

Annexure 3: CHALLENGES FOR MATERNAL PERINATAL AND NEONATAL SERVICES IN SOUTH AFRICA

Addendum to the

The South African

Maternal, Perinatal, and Neonatal Health Policy

25 March 2021

NATIONAL DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

Contents

		URE 3: SUMMARY OF CHALLENGES FOR MATERNAL AND TAL SERVICES IMPROVEMENT	4	
1	Mat	ernal and Neonatal Morbidity and Mortality	4	
	1.1	Maternal Mortality		
	1.2	Perinatal/ neonatal mortality and stillbirths	5	
	1.3	Maternal and neonatal nutrition challenges		
2	Lea	dership and governance for MPNH in South Africa		
		litical leadership		
		ministrative Leadership		
		perational leadership		
3		Ith systems and Service Delivery platform		
Ŭ		Global call for Quality of Care (QoC) in maternal health		
		Quality of Care (QoC) in maternal care in South Africa		
		Access to universal quality MPNH care		
		3.2 Challenges on Integrated services within MPNH Continuum of care		
		Maternal nutrition in pregnancy and lactation		
		Perinatal mental health and gender-based violence		
	3.2.3	Genetic disorders, birth defects, disabilities and genetic services	11	
	3.2.4	Cancer in women of childbearing age and during pregnancy or postnatal	12	
		PMTCT of Communicable infections		
		Basic antenatal care challenges		
		Intrapartum care challenges		
		Neonatal health challenges		
		MPN healthcare workforce requirements and challenges		
		•		
		Financing MPNH services		
		Infrastructure compliance		
		Essential MPNH supplies, including medicines and equipment 		
		Emergency preparedness and response		
		Obstetric emergencies and complicated childbirth		
		Unexpected events		
A		Regional care, levels of care and referral system/pathways		
4		pectful Maternity Care		
		spectful Maternity Care		
_		Inerable groups inclusivity		
5	Con	nmunity Maternal Health Services	27	

5.1.Maternal, Perinatal and Neonatal services at Community level	27
5.2 Stakeholder engagement	27
6. Maternal, Perinatal and Neonatal Death Response and Surveillance system (MPDRS)	28
7 Research in maternal health care systems and quality ca	re 28

ANNEXURE 3: SUMMARY OF CHALLENGES FOR MATERNAL AND NEONATAL SERVICES IMPROVEMENT

Women, children, and adolescents still face numerous interrelated health challenges, underpinned by poverty, inequality and marginalization, and underfunded health services, with several contextual challenges to universal quality of care. These are highlighted for the SA healthcare context. All though South Africa has made significant progress with regard to the improvement of maternal health and the reduction of maternal mortality in the last two decades, Annexure 3 highlights the critical factors and challenges in the South African dual healthcare system that needs improvement for better health outcomes.

1 Maternal and Neonatal Morbidity and Mortality

Quality and accessible maternal health care services during pregnancy, childbirth and after delivery are important for the survival and well-being of both the mother and the infant. The maternal health care services during pregnancy is one of the pillars of safe motherhood in South Africa. Within the 17 SDGs, maternal health related targets under SDG 3 seeks to ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages. Among the SDGs, SDG 3.1 aims to reduce the global maternal mortality ratio to less than 70 per 100 000 live births by 2030. Therefore, sufficient and sustainable efforts is required to remove various barriers to health care access and utilization, particularly in low- and middle-income countries such as South Africa. These are highlighted for South Africa;

1.1 Maternal Mortality

Pregnant women die disproportionally more in the public sector in SA due to the increased risk of developing pregnancy complications related to poverty and inequitable access and quality of maternal and essential care for newborns health delivery services. Additionally, there is empirical evidence from various studies on the link between utilization of maternal healthcare services and the reduction of maternal morbidity and mortality health outcomes of women.³ Improving maternal and child health remains a population health priority globally and in South Africa.

A woman in sub-Saharan Africa has a 1 in 38 chance of dying from a pregnancy-related cause, compared with a woman in Western Europe whose risk is 1 in 11,700.

In South Africa the 'Big Five' causes of maternal deaths have been described and have changed with time. Most of the maternal deaths are preventable.^{4 5} Currently the direct maternal deaths in pregnancy, at delivery, or soon after childbirth, are attributable to obstetric hemorrhage, hypertension in pregnancy (HDP), abortion, and sepsis.⁶ The 2014-2016 Saving Mother's Report indicated that deaths due to HDP is

the only condition with increased maternal deaths.⁷ There is a decline in indirect maternal deaths due to HIV largely due to the anti-viral treatment of HIV-related conditions, although deaths still occur and remains high.⁸ Non-pregnancy related infections remain the leading cause of maternal mortality in South Africa in all provinces.⁹Twenty-eight per cent (28%)¹⁰ ¹¹of maternal mortality results from non-obstetric causes such as malaria, HIV, diabetes,¹² cardiovascular disease, and obesity.¹³

Maternal mortality attributable to abortive outcomes, including ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage and unsafe abortion are in line with the global incidence of 7%.¹⁴ Globally, complications of pregnancy and childbirth are linked to unsafe abortions as the leading cause of death for 15-to-19-year-old girls. Abortion in SA according the 2020 WHO report is only 74% safe.¹⁵

A general lack of knowledge and skill of staff still exist as according to in the Saving Mothers Report¹⁶ including identified challenges related to performing caesarean deliveries in all settings, failure to protect the airway in anesthetic, referral challenges, early discharge and lack of post-natal follow-up.¹⁷

Skilled care before, during and after childbirth is the key to save the lives of women and newborns.¹⁸ This is only possible when a health service environment is regulated and supportive for universal quality of care to women and children.

1.2 Perinatal/ neonatal mortality and stillbirths

The neonatal mortality rate is now widely observed and surveyed as an important population health measure for quality of care. In 2019, 47% of all reported under-5 deaths that occurred in the newborn period about one third dying on the day of birth and close to three quarters dying within the first week of life. 19.20.21 22 In addition, the global rate of stillbirths has received more attention with the recognition of a large number of viable fetuses (2.6 million in 2015) who died after 28 weeks of gestation, often at the time of delivery. 23 The leading causes of perinatal deaths in South Africa are complications from preterm birth, followed by intrapartum-related complications, such as birth asphyxia, infections and congenital abnormalities and still births. 24

The WHO reports in 2020 that "Children who die within the first 28 days of birth suffer from conditions and diseases associated with lack of quality care at birth or skilled care and treatment immediately after birth and in the first days of life". The WHO asserts that "Women who receive midwife-led continuity of care (MLCC) provided by professional midwives, educated and regulated to internationals standards, are 16% less likely to lose their baby and 24% less likely to experience pre-term birth." ²⁵

1.3 Maternal and neonatal nutrition challenges

South Africa is faced with a triple burden of malnutrition (overweight, obesity, underweight and micronutrient deficiency) affecting women and children. According to the South Africa Demographic and Health Survey (SADHS) of 2016 key indicator report women of childbearing age in SA have high levels of obesity and overweight: 27% of women aged 15 years and above were overweight, 41% were obese, and a low prevalence of 3% were underweight. This is coupled with micronutrient deficiencies, with an anemia prevalence of 33%, low Vitamin A (serum concentration < 20 micrograms/dl) prevalence of 27.2 %, and calcium deficiency. The latter may lead to hypertensive disorders later on in pregnancy. The nutritional status of children under-5 years is of concern. The SADHS indicated a high prevalence of stunting (27%), 3% wasting and 13% of children being overweight.

During the first 1000 days of life, poor nutritional status is an important contributing factor to maternal health complications, maternal deaths, intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR), preterm delivery, and poor childhood development.³⁰.³¹ Furthermore, fetal growth restriction and postnatal growth affect motor and cognitive development, with the largest effects from stunting before age 2 to 3 years leading to reduced school and work performance. ³² ³³ Neural tube defects from folic deficiency have declined significantly in South Africa due to supplementation in pregnancy.³⁴

Maternal underweight, overweight and obesity at the time of pregnancy increase the risk of intrauterine grow restriction and gestational diabetes mellitus, childhood obesity that continues into adulthood, hypertension and pre-eclampsia, and coronary heart disease and. 35.36

Health seeking behavior of pregnant women is often valued in the pursuit of better health outcomes, yet many mothers resort to utilizing their own supplements and complementary medicine, some of which are not regulated.³⁷ ³⁸ Suboptimal breastfeeding remains an essential issue for neonatal health and survival, ⁴⁰ ⁴¹ its contribution having been established as essential amidst a robust HIV prevention programme.⁴² ⁴³

2 Leadership and governance for MPNH in South Africa

All managers and leaders (administrative and clinical) at different levels are expected to execute their duties per legislative frameworks. This MPNH policy aims to ensure that all managers and leaders are accountable for compliance with this policy.

2.1 Political leadership

Maternal and neonatal health is a developmental priority and a key aspect in a country's health system, which requires political commitment and buy-in for resource allocation and dedicated ring-fenced funding.

MPNH policy development is a consultative process that incorporates program considerations from varied stakeholders in the country; however, the policy remains the National Department of Health's mandate, with political leadership from the Minister of Health and technical leadership from the Director-General of Health.

With maternal and neonatal mortality rates plateauing, there is a need for renewed leadership commitments for research to ensure quality maternal and neonatal health to fulfil the NHI goals. South Africa has a leadership structure with formal institutions in place to ensure accountability.⁴⁴ Within the National Department of Health, the program strategy resides with the Cluster Women's, Maternal and Reproductive Health⁴⁵, but there is a need for a dedicated national position aligned to international trends to strengthen the quality of services.

2.2 Administrative Leadership

Maternal and neonatal health outcomes rely on a well-run service delivery platform dependent on leadership and governance, the referral framework, data and information flow, financing for MPNH, human resources for MPNH and technological advancements for service delivery. South Africa lacks a standardized service delivery model for maternal and neonatal care, considering the discrepancies and inequalities between provinces and the public and private systems.⁴⁶

Service delivery platforms need to be organized around the mother and baby pair's care needs within the integrated continuum of care.⁴⁷

2.3 Operational leadership

Operationalization of services currently is done at the local level, led by the nine provinces. There is a need for leadership to coordinate and synergize service delivery within the levels of care as per legislative requirements, guidelines, protocols and standard operating procedures (SOPs). The public health system is overcrowded and overburdened in maternal and neonatal health service points, and the infrastructure cannot deal effectively with the number of cases in a catchment area. This is compounded by the migration of women across district and provincial boundaries to access care that is closer or perceived to be of better quality.⁴⁸ There are discrepancies between provinces, districts, and rural areas pertaining to the distribution and function of facilities.⁴⁹

Operational shortcomings⁵⁰ exist in 1) intersectoral coordination, including active community participation, 2) the number of facilities per population, 3) fragmentation of services,⁵¹ 4) infrastructural challenges, 5) undocumented consumers of care and 6) maternal and newborn deaths that are not documented.

2.4 Clinical governance

There is no comprehensive strategy that integrates clinical governance related to the operational management of MPNH services in South Africa.⁵² The core standards for a health establishment do not address the specific needs and requirements for maternal and newborn care.⁵³ Chief executive officers, clinical and operational managers are challenged to place staff that are appropriately competent per norms and standards for levels of care in the catchment area.⁵⁴ Anecdotal evidence demonstrates shortcomings in the oversight provided by clinical managers, whereby staff are not appropriately skilled, placed, remunerated, managed or utilized, leading to incidences of litigation. The DCST teams are not functioning to the expected level, with some teams being incomplete, unevenly distributed, allocated to other roles, unsupported or dismantled. ⁵⁵

The CEO's, clinical managers and nurse managers are responsible for overseeing the clinical management provided by medical doctors and associate medical staff and ensuring that it meets the required norms and standards. Clinical managers need to be capacitated on the MPNH program to effectively manage staff and exercise oversight for clinical practice in an enabling environment.

The operational pillar of clinical governance is a district-level function responsible for ensuring the quality of services, surveillance, and reporting.⁵⁶ The roles and responsibilities of the DCST are supportive of the district.⁵⁷

3 Health systems and Service Delivery platform

3.1 Global call for Quality of Care (QoC) in maternal health

The quality of maternal and perinatal health care (QoC) is not only reflected in the technical and clinical maternal and perinatal mortality and morbidity outcomes of care, but also in the experience of women of the care they received,⁵⁸ within a context of inequalities and equity.⁵⁹ The vision for meeting the SDGs is underpinned by core values of quality, equity and dignity.⁶⁰ 61

3.1.1 Quality of Care (QoC) in maternal care in South Africa

The quality of care reflects the system's capacity to deal with a normal and complicated pregnancy and childbirth, including prompt reactions to life-threatening events. Quality care requires a skilled and responsive workforce with lifesaving skills, functioning in an enabling environment inclusive of norms and standards for adequate physical infrastructure and essential resources. 62 63

Quality gaps in maternal and newborn care have been reported through the Saving Mothers⁶⁴ and Saving Babies 2014-2016 reports ⁶⁵ ⁶⁶ and include patient factors, staff factors and health system quality factors with recommendations. The

recommendations of these reports have not been fully implemented. It takes leadership to operationalize policies, recommendations and guidelines and translate them into practice through implementation. Implementation needs an action plan that considers resource mobilization, management, supervision, collaboration with multiple stakeholders and the community, clinical oversight, how care will be coordinated between all health system levels, and monitoring and evaluation for improved quality of maternal newborn care. Lessons on how to strengthen maternal programmes should be learned from other successful projects. ⁶⁸

There is inequality in care and health outcomes between the public and private healthcare systems in SA and within vulnerable groups⁶⁹. To improve maternal and neonatal health outcomes, universal access to quality health care is a priority, including for vulnerable groups such as intimate partner violence LGBTQI persons, orphans, runaways, abused persons⁷⁰, women with unwanted pregnancies, forced abortions, asylum seekers, refugees⁷¹, displaced persons, mentally challenged persons, foreigners, and abandoned babies.

3.1.2 Access to universal quality MPNH care⁷²

Access to MPNH services includes aspects of availability, accessibility, acceptability, accommodation, and quality in every setting. SA is still highly inequitable with respect to access to adequate care, including 24-hour emergency and pre-referral care, safe abortion services, with significant differences between rural and urban areas, provinces, and between richer and poorer communities.⁷³ There are also significant differences between public and private care provision, varying across parameters such as "hotel-like" services, number and level of competent care workers in attendance, and level of sophisticated resources and services at hand when needed as well as patient experience of care, the safety and efficacy of care, and value-for-money and affordability.⁷⁴

Providing care that is integrated and responsive to the mother and newborn's needs requires a holistic approach to quality service delivery, such that fragmentation of care can be overcome⁷⁵. All aspects of their care-related needs should be provided at every service point within the health system, considering their culture, significant persons, and family during pregnancy and birth.

Anecdotal data reveals the contribution of cultural and social practices on access to care. Some mothers may hide their pregnancy until it's visible or choose not to comply with their healthcare provider's advice during pregnancy⁷⁶. These practices may lead to missed opportunities for syphilis testing, HIV testing, and other essential antenatal care.

3.2 Challenges on Integrated services within MPNH Continuum of care

3.2.1 Maternal nutrition in pregnancy and lactation

It is well documented that vertical programme do not work as effectively or efficiently as more comprehensive approaches, particularly in countries that face multiple and concurrent health challenges. Without an integrated approach to address multiple maternal risk factors, interventions are unlikely to meet women's needs nor to be sustained in the long term. Maternal malnutrition is a modifiable risk factor of public health importance that can integrate into efforts to prevent adverse birth outcomes, particularly among economically developing/low-income populations. Full integration of evidence-based interventions such as implementing the Ten Steps to Successful Breastfeeding as a standard of care into maternal and neonatal service delivery will improve maternal, neonatal and overall child health outcomes and promote more efficient and effective use of resources.

3.2.2 Perinatal mental health and gender-based violence

Maternal mental health is essential to the well-being of the mother, the development of her child, and the well-being of her partner and other family members. In South Africa, the National Development Plan 2030⁷⁹ emphasizes the following regarding early childhood development:

- The first 1000 days, from conception to 24 months of age, represent a critical period for intervention for positive development^{80 81}
- Pregnant women and mothers need access to emotional and material support to ensure a healthy pregnancy⁸²
- Maternal well-being is needed to ensure optimal nurturing of children to grow up healthy, well-nourished, physically fit, and cared for in a stable environment⁸³
- Vulnerable mothers need to be recognized, protected and empowered to provide care and stimulation to their child⁸⁴

Untreated mental disorders are associated with significant, harmful effects on maternal and neonatal health and well-being, globally and in South Africa.⁸⁵ ⁸⁶These include:

- Higher risk of harmful maternal behaviors such as hazardous drinking and illicit substance use 87
- Higher rates of experiencing Gender-Based Violence
- Reduction in maternity care uptake
- Reduced adherence to ART/ PMTCT and child immunization schedules

Maternal mental disorders are associated with poor maternal and fetal outcomes of pregnancy⁸⁸, including:

- Preterm labor, low birth weight neonates, poor infant growth, and poor infant cognitive development (most commonly, with all mental health conditions)
- Gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia (most notable with bipolar disorder)
- Gestational diabetes (most notable with schizophrenia)

In the postpartum period, mental disorders may affect maternal responsiveness and functioning and have cross-cutting, long-term negative consequences for children's physical, cognitive, and socioemotional development.

There is no recommendation in the Guidelines for maternity care in South Africa 2015 for assessing a woman during pregnancy for emotional and mental factors that may lead to adverse pregnancy outcomes.

3.2.3 Genetic disorders, birth defects, disabilities and genetic services $^{89\ 90}$

The Human Genetic Policy for management and prevention of genetic disorders, birth defects and disability summarized the incidence of the most common genetic condition in SA for disability as Down's syndrome 1:500, neural tube defects, fetal alcohol syndrome (FAS), albinism, cleft palate and lip, club feet and rubella and cytomegalovirus infections.⁹¹

Congenital disorders (CDs) affect an estimated 1 in 15 or 7% of live births every year in South Africa. Of these 70 000 affected births, some are diagnosed at birth, while others will only manifest across the life course or may present as sudden death. The majority (80.5%) of CDs are genetic/partially genetic in cause, while teratogens cause 19.5%. The latter is more than the 10-15% expected in SA owing to the high prevalence of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS) 4. Many complex disorders and non-communicable diseases (NCDs) have genetic predispositions (e.g. cancer, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, etc.) 95

An apparent increase in the incidence of neonatal gastroschisis and exomphalos has been reported from several parts of the world. In South Africa available data indicates a prevalence of increase of 2,4 fold in regions with a 38,7 to 47% mortality rate. The research recommended a national survey. According to data from 'Retina South Africa', the prevalence of blindness and childhood blindness in South Africa is estimated to be 5 per 1 000 (0.5%) and 5 per 10 000 (0.05%). ⁹⁶ Retinopathy of premature babies in South Africa has improved but is still about 16,000 infants per vear. ⁹⁷

Serious CDs are often life-threatening and contribute significantly to child morbidity, mortality, and disability in SA. The provision of genetic services plays a crucial role in reproductive decision making and can improve maternal, fetal and neonatal outcomes. As the country transitions epidemiologically, the proportion of child mortality attributed to CDs is expected to rise and emerge as a leading cause of death in children under

five.⁹⁸ This is in keeping with the trend experienced by high-income countries where CDs emerged and remain the leading cause of death in children today.⁹⁹

This growing health burden remains hidden under the parallel burden of communicable disease, although data is beginning to emerge. According to the 2014-2016 Saving Babies report CDs is amongst the top five final causes of neonatal mortality for neonates weighing more than 1000g. CDs as a final cause of death are ranked fourth with 12.6% of the total reported neonatal mortality data. There has been a steady increase in the proportion of neonatal mortality resulting from CDs as a cause of death for neonates >1000g from 10.5% to 11.8% in 2002-2016. 100 101

3.2.4. Cancer in women of childbearing age and during pregnancy or postnatal 102 103

In general, cancer during pregnancy is an uncommon occurrence. Statistics show that about 1 in every 1,000 pregnant women are diagnosed with some form of cancer¹⁰⁴. Though there is a shortage of familial cancer data in SA, it is expected that approximately 12% of women and 4% of the general population will be affected by breast and colorectal cancer, respectively.¹⁰⁵ The 5 most common cancers in women in SA are listed in order of importance as, breast cancer¹⁰⁶, cervical cancer, colorectal cancer, uterine cancer and lung cancer. Both breast and cervical cancer have been identified as a national priority with increasing incidences occurring. with a lifetime risk of 1 in 25 in South Africa, according to the 2017 National Cancer Registry (NCR).¹⁰⁷

Cervical cancer is the second most common cancer among women in South African after breast cancer with a reported a 1 in 40 lifetime risk of cervical cancer. Annually there are some 5 743 new cases reported with 3 027 associated deaths in South Africa with Ninety nine percent (99%) of cervical cancers are associated with HPV. Cervical cancer is the 10th most common female cancer in women aged 15 to 44 years in South Africa.

The National Guideline for Cervical Cancer Control and Management 2019 guides the prevention and early recognition of this condition¹⁰⁹ Screening for cervical cancer was relatively high but for breast cancer it was low, despite the latter being a major public health problem in South Africa in 2018. This may be attributed to the limited availability, affordability, and accessibility of breast cancer screening services among socio-economically disadvantaged individuals There are some socio-economic disparities in adopting both breast and cervical cancer screening guidelines that could be targeted by interventions.¹¹⁰

3.2.5 PMTCT of Communicable infections

Infections during pregnancy are a major contributing factor to perinatal morbidity and mortality¹¹¹. In utero infections may directly affect the fetus and can lead to intrauterine deaths and stillbirths. The fetus may also be affected indirectly because of maternal infection leading to premature birth or fetal growth restriction (FGR). Infections that are asymptomatic at birth may present later in life, often within the first five years. In

general, primary infections during pregnancy are substantially more damaging than re-infections or reactivations of infection. Likewise, infections acquired at an earlier gestational age tend to lead to more serious infections. HIV, syphilis, TB, HBV, malaria, and, more recently, listeriosis are all infections with a significant impact on maternal and child health outcomes in SA.

OVERVIEW OF PMTCT OF HIV

South Africa (SA) is committed to achieving the elimination targets outlined in the Last Mile Plan¹¹². Whilst significant progress has been made in preventing HIV infections in children, HIV remains the third leading cause of maternal mortality and a significant contributor to under-five deaths in SA.¹¹³ Therefore, managing the health of women living with HIV and preventing mother-to-child transmission of HIV remains a critical intervention for ensuring that women and children survive and thrive in South Africa. PMTCT Option B Plus¹¹⁴ entailed initiating ART for life in all pregnant and breastfeeding women regardless of CD4 count or clinical stage and was launched in SA in January 2015. According to the GAM Report ¹¹⁵ there has been significant continued drop in T MTCT rate and the Thembisa Model indicated the MTCT at birth as 0.9% in 2017 and 0.8% in 2019. The estimates are like those reported by the National Health Laboratory Service (NHLS). 25. According to data from the DHIS, the 10-week MTCT rate in 2019 was 0.7%, down from 1.3% in 2016/2017. Number of HIV PCR tests done at birth in South Africa, 2017–2019 has also shown slow improvement. Now, five years down the line, the 2019 PMTCT guidelines¹¹⁶ has considered new evidence, both scientific and operational, to ensure that SA's HIV PMTCT program remains relevant, practical, and evidence based.

SYPHILIS IN PREGNANCY

Syphilis remains a significant cause of preventable perinatal death in SA.¹¹⁷ The 2019 sentinel survey (unpublished) data on ante natal HIV, Syphilis prevalence ¹¹⁸ shows an increase of syphilis in pregnant women and newborns in SA against the 2017 survey. With only an estimated 72% of woman receiving screening for syphilis, many women may remain undetected and untreated.¹¹⁹ Laboratory-based RPR contributes to the delay in treatment initiation. Adverse pregnancy outcomes occur in up to 80% of syphilis seropositive, untreated pregnant women.¹²⁰ South Africa has committed to the triple elimination of HIV, hepatitis, and syphilis. Therefore, greater emphasis is needed on the process of screening and effectively treating mothers, their partners, and their infants affected by syphilis. The current trends of seroprevalence of HIV/syphilis co-infection and syphilis infection overtime through the national surveillance systems indicates the re-emergence and rising syphilis infections with high risk of congenital syphilis which calls for robust early dual testing, screening of women and management in pregnancy treating of congenital syphilis. ¹²¹

TUBERCULOSIS IN PREGNANCY

Non-pregnancy-related infections remain the leading cause of maternal mortality in South Africa and all provinces. Within this category, respiratory infection remains the most common cause of death, and TB the most common underlying disease often coinfection with HIV. 122 Yet, deaths from TB are likely to be unrecognized, with many deaths due to pulmonary or disseminated TB being attributed to other causes. Furthermore, maternal TB may result in premature birth, low birth weight, and congenital or neonatal TB infection or disease. 123 Prevention, screening during the childbirth cycle, diagnosis and treatment of women for TB must receive greater emphasis if maternal and child outcomes are to be improved in SA particularly in the context of HIV.

MATERNAL COLONIZATION OF GROUP B STREPTOCOCCI (GBS)

Global systematic reviews ¹²⁴ ¹²⁵ as well as regional and studies in South Africa ¹²⁶ ¹²⁷ indicate the prevalence of maternal colonization of Group B streptococci (GBS) during pregnancy and it is an important risk factor for neonatal morbidity and mortality. ¹²⁸ ¹²⁹ ¹³⁰ Maternal GBS colonization may result in pregnancy-associated conditions including urinary tract infection, bacteraemia, chorioamnionitis, preterm labor (PTL), ¹³¹ preterm rupture of membranes (PROM) and perinatal transmission of the organism and postpartum endometritis. ¹³²

The Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends that all pregnant women at 35–37 weeks gestation should be screened for GBS colonization using vaginal-rectal specimens in order to decrease the morbidity and mortality of GBS-associated neonatal disease. It is therefore imperative that programmes such as surveillance, immunization, screening and antibiotics for pregnant women and neonates be included in the country's maternal and neonatal health programmes and guidelines. It is therefore imperative that programmes and guidelines.

MALARIA IN PREGNANCY 136

Particularly in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy, pregnant women are more likely to develop severe malaria and have a higher malaria-related mortality rate than other adults. Malaria in pregnancy is more frequently associated with complications such as cerebral malaria, hypoglycemia, and pulmonary edema/adult respiratory distress syndrome. In addition, maternal malaria increases the risk of spontaneous abortion, stillbirth, premature delivery, low birth weight (a leading cause of child mortality) and rarely, congenital malaria. Fetal distress may occur intra partum.¹³⁷

HEPATITIS IN PREGNANCY

Maternal Hepatitis B viral infection (HBV)¹³⁸ may result in higher preterm births, lower APGAR scores, gestational diabetes, and antepartum hepatitis. Whilst horizontal transmission during childhood remains the primary mode of HBV transmission, vertical transmission from mother to child remains an important mechanism of infection in countries with high HBV prevalence. In SA, many HBV infected women are also living with HIV and will receive ART during pregnancy. The ART drugs Tenofovir and lamivudine treat both HIV and HBV and reduce the risk of mother to child transmission by decreasing the viral load of both HIV and Hepatitis B.¹³⁹ Health care workers need to be aware of the required management of an HBV-infected mother and her infant as outlined in the National Guidelines for the Management of Viral Hepatitis.¹⁴⁰

LISTERIOSIS, ZIKA AND OTHER INFECTIONS

Listeriosis¹⁴¹ is a disease caused by ingesting food contaminated with the bacterium Listeria monocytogenes. Pregnant women, newborn infants and those with weakened immune systems are particularly at risk, and the infection may result in sepsis or meningitis with high mortality. Vertical transmission may result in stillbirth, premature delivery or severe infection in the newborn.¹⁴²

Although Zika Virus outbreaks are not common in South Africa, health workers need to apply universal measures to prevent infections during pregnancy and the breastfeeding period. Zika virus was first identified in Uganda 70 yrs. ago and was recently carried to Brazil. It is transmitted by mosquitos. While the majority of Zika infections are asymptomatic, infected persons may present with a short-lived febrile illness. There is no evidence that pregnant women are more susceptible to Zika virus or are more likely to develop complications of the disease. However, maternal Zika infection may result in the 'Congenital Zika syndrome' with a unique pattern of defects including severe microcephaly, decreased brain tissue, eye damage, joints with limited range of motion and too much muscle tone, which restricts body movement after birth and deafness.¹⁴³ South Africa needs a strategic guideline for maternal and newborn care during disasters and pandemics.¹⁴⁴ ¹⁴⁵

TETANUS 146

The majority of reported tetanus cases are birth-associated, occurring in low income countries among insufficiently vaccinated mothers and their new-born infants, following unhygienic deliveries and abortions, and poor postnatal hygiene and cord care practices. Neonatal tetanus occurs when non-sterile instruments are used to cut the umbilical cord or when contaminated material is used to cover the umbilical stump. Deliveries carried out by persons with uncleansed hands or on a contaminated surface are also risk factors.¹⁴⁷There is improvement of neonatal tetanus reported in South

Africa due to the vaccination protocol in pregnancy, but migrants and migration between provinces and countries still needs attention to prevent the condition.

RESPIRATORY CONDITIONS. (INFLUENZA AND COVID-19)148 149

Influence and H1N1 are more prevalent among pregnant women and can have serious complication is pregnancy and the newborn. Flu vaccinations has proven to reduce influenza fatalities in pregnant women and their infants.¹⁵⁰ hence South Africa rolled out its influenza vaccination since 2014 and gradually scaling up the program.

Pandemics such as COVID-19 affected access to MPNH services, impacted pregnancy outcomes, and breastfeeding during the postnatal period and early childhood development. ¹⁵² ¹⁵³ In South Africa steps were taken for care of women in pregnancy with COVID for early identification and best practice treatment to prevent mortality and morbidity as described from empiric experiences ¹⁵⁴. COVID-19 can lead to severe morbidity and mortality in women with certain high-risk conditions in pregnancy with special reference to HIV.¹⁵⁵ The impact of COVID on maternal and neonatal health indicate the need for the emergency preparedness during pandemics.

3.2.6 Basic antenatal care challenges

Analysis of antenatal utilization and coverage of 74%-84%¹⁵⁶ indicates that women visit the clinic more often. ANC attendance is influenced by age, parity, rural setting, education level and household wealth. The first visit ANC before 20 weeks' attendance have improved from 60%. The complex reasons for late 1st visit should inform healthcare providers to be encouraged and empowered to make necessary changes in patient flow challenges. ¹⁵⁷ ¹⁵⁸

Many complications experienced by pregnant women can be prevented, detected, and treated during ANC visits by trained health workers¹⁵⁹. Ensuring quality and <u>respectful care</u> during a woman's pregnancy journey results in a positive pregnancy experience and improved perinatal outcomes.¹⁶⁰ ¹⁶¹ ¹⁶² Antenatal care provides an opportunity to detect gender-based or intimate partner /domestic violence, which can cause pregnancy-related complications or poor infant health.¹⁶³ ¹⁶⁴

An optimal antenatal care package can foster a rapport between the mother and the father and the health care provider, provide preventive care and health education, identify and manage complications, encourage skilled attendance at birth and prepare the mother, other family members, and the health system for possible emergencies.

The current WHO aligned standard of antenatal care (ANC)¹⁶⁵ BANC Plus is understood to primarily focus on technical clinical obstetrical issues.¹⁶⁶ This contact with the pregnant women also provide an important opportunity to deliver other preventive clinical interventions as well as counselling and health education on birth preparedness. Danger signs and health issues not directly linked to BANC Plus need

an appropriate response from the clinician and healthcare workers. Key practices at the household level during and after pregnancy, and family planning also is part of the care of women in pregnancy. An integrated approach includes HIV and family planning in the care. BANC Plus is a tool to use in ANC but it does not guarantee quality of service or improved health outcomes if an integrated approached is not followed. Errors and omission still occur due to staff and health system issues. ¹⁶⁷¹⁶⁸ ¹⁶⁹

However, there is evidence of poor or substandard care, such as not detecting elevated blood pressure in women with hypertension in pregnancy or failure to take appropriate decision action when detected. ¹⁷⁰ Consequently, a significant number of stillbirths occur related to hypertension disorders of pregnancy (HDP) ¹⁷¹ ¹⁷² ¹⁷³ noted as the underlying cause with the most common avoidable factor being "not responding to antenatal hypertension" in pregnant women. ¹⁷⁴

The core problem in perinatal deaths due to hypertensive diseases in pregnancy is that the primary health care clinics do not detect and manage the woman appropriately by either referring her on or having a more skilled attendant manage the pregnancy.

Support is needed from the community, family and partner to ensure that women attend ante care regularly and timely. A programme for education of the family to detect abnormalities and respond. There is a need to involve the significant person in the ante care. Transport to the clinic remains a barrier to ante natal care in South Africa and is significant and needs a workable and sustainable solution.

3.2.7 Intrapartum care challenges

An increase in the proportion of births delivered in health facilities was observed amongst especially rural women in Eastern Cape, Limpopo, and Mpumalanga. A skilled health provider assisted in nearly all deliveries (95%) in the public sector in South Africa.¹⁷⁵ This is a registered midwife or advanced midwife or a medical practitioner. The number of undocumented women that deliver in South Africa is a burden on the health care system.

The WHO¹⁷⁶ support the approach of normalcy of birth with consideration of the identification of women with risk factors and conditions that may contribute to adverse pregnancy and birth outcomes. For this reason, women need antenatal care and a referral system is in place to provide a higher level of care and expertise needed.

Nevertheless, there are challenges with skill of staff and interpretation of protocols that require clinical experience and skills. South African data show that the use of the partogram as a tool to assist observation for prolonged labor is not correct and effective. A multifaceted solution to the problem is needed to prevent the perinatal deaths due to intrapartum asphyxia. This supports the findings and the new WHO recommendations for intrapartum care (IPC) that discourage interventions based on

cervical dilatation alone, as this is a poor predictor of adverse neonatal outcomes.¹⁷⁷

The unfortunate outcomes of the high incidence of substandard care in labor led to adverse outcomes for mothers and babies resulted in ongoing stream of litigations related to maternal and newborn deaths, stillbirths and encephalopathy of the newborn. The indication is that 39.6% of perinatal deaths were due to intrapartum asphyxia. 181 182 183

In South Africa, the C/S rates are high in both the public sector and the private sector, with the C/S rates being much higher in the private sector The SADHS 2016 has shown that six in ten births (61%) delivered at private health facilities are caesarean births, as compared with 22% of births delivered at public health facilities. In the past five years' caesarean section rates increased from 26,5% in 2016 to 29,7% in 2020. ¹⁸⁴. Surgical skills and management of bleeding during caesarean sections have been reported as the main contributor to maternal mortality due to postpartum hemorrhage. ¹⁸⁵

Experiences of women in the public sector during birth is under scrutiny with reports of dissatisfaction, contribution to the conditions and experiences referred to as "abuse" in care.¹⁸⁶ ¹⁸⁷ ¹⁸⁸ For this purpose, the respectful maternity care approach is put in to place as a guideline.¹⁸⁹ ¹⁹⁰

Doulas or traditional birth attendants can contribute to better birth outcomes by encouraging accompanying persons during labor, assisting with the birth and supporting breastfeeding.

In South Africa as in many other countries MOUs exist in both the public and private sectors, with the majority being in the public sector with a shift in policy to increase the level of autonomy and decision-making for midwives and midwifery led care regarding low-risk pregnancies. Evidence exist that these units create positive environment for women to have more choice and autonomy. With less medical interventions patients are more likely to receive natural births and more positive respectful positive childbirth. 191 192 193 However, challenges exist to transport women for distances too far to reach hospitals for the next level of expertise. This need for access to emergency care for maternal and neonatal emergencies OMBUs could be and a recommendation from the NCCEMD as an alternative model for providing safe and cost-effective childbirth care, which may be particularly important in low- and middle-income countries to meet the growing demand for facility-based birth for low-risk women and improve efficiency of health systems (OMBUs). 194 195 196

Stillbirths¹⁹⁷

Stillbirths are preventable but remains a hidden if there is no specific indicator to measure the number of cases accurately and if no specific action is taken to prevents these deaths. Findings in South Africa shows that 60% of stillbirths are macerated. indicating that the death in utero during the antenatal period and 40% are related to intrapartum factors classified as fresh stillbirths. 198 This is contrary to the worldwide pattern and the pattern in sub-Saharan Africa. 199 The most common category of cause of the stillbirths is given as 'unexplained', followed by hypertensive disorders in pregnancy and antepartum hemorrhage (mostly abruption placenta)²⁰⁰. Five priority areas to bring change include: (1) intentional leadership; (2) increased voice, especially of women; (3) implementation of integrated interventions with commensurate investment; (4) indicators to measure impact and especially to monitor progress; and (5) investigation of critical knowledge gaps. The rates correlate with access to maternal healthcare in general and an indicated increased period of stillbirth risk after a 6-week absence of antenatal care.²⁰¹ Every newborn action plan (ENAP) to end preventable deaths has a set stillbirth target of 12 per 1000 births or less by 2030. This required a reduction of more than the current 2% reduction in stillbirth to accomplish this target. 202

3.2.8 Neonatal health challenges

For the past decade, reports and evidence, ²⁰³ ²⁰⁴ reported birth asphyxia as one of the three major causes of neonatal deaths ²⁰⁵ emanating from poor fetal monitoring during labor as well as infections and preterm births. ²⁰⁶ ²⁰⁷ The immediate postpartum period provides an opportunity to optimize the infant's health, especially for small and sick neonates, contributing significantly to the neonatal mortality rate. Preterm birth is the leading cause of child death worldwide at 11%. ²⁰⁸ Small and sick newborns require timely, high-quality inpatient care to survive. This includes providing warmth, feeding support, safe oxygen therapy and effective phototherapy with prevention and treatment of infections. Inpatient care for newborns requires dedicated ward space staffed by health workers with neonatal specialist training and skills.

Evidence and reports in South Africa have always indicated the three major causes of neonatal mortality as Birth Asphyxia, infections and prematurity. 209 210 211 Preterm birth is the leading cause of child death worldwide at 11%,212 with congenital abnormalities following as the fourth cause.213 The immediate postpartum period provides an opportunity to optimize the infant's health, especially for small and sick neonates, contributing significantly to the neonatal mortality rate. Small and sick newborns require timely, high-quality inpatient care to survive. This includes providing warmth, feeding support, safe oxygen therapy and effective phototherapy with prevention and treatment of infections. Inpatient care for newborns requires dedicated ward space staffed by health workers with neonatal specialist training and skills.

Intrapartum asphyxia and Encephalopathy at birth: According to the Perinatal data monitoring system (PPIP) Intrapartum or Birth asphyxia resulting in hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy (HIE)²¹⁴²¹⁵ is only one of the many other causes ²¹⁶ ²¹⁷ emanating from mainly poor intrapartum management, prematurity, small for gestational age, infections among other factors. ²¹⁸ ²¹⁹ Intrapartum asphyxia in LMICs may be due to under-resourcing and lack of access to appropriate health facilities, ²²⁰ given an encephalopathy incidence of 8.5 %/1 000 to 13, 3% / 1000 live births. ²²¹ ²²² Neonates with asphyxia are at risk of developing encephalopathy and often have ongoing respiratory depression requiring respiratory support in a neonatal intensive care unit, with a need for neuroprotective interventions such induced hypothermia or therapeutic hypothermia (TH) improves survival and neurodevelopmental outcome. ²²³

It is therefore recommended that clinicians conduct a comprehensive evaluation (including determining the type and timing of contributing factors therapeutic hypothermia, development of guidelines and protocol for TH as well as make available cooling machines technologies, keeping in mind that these may require adaptation to the South African environment and context.²²⁶

Neonatal Healthcare-associated infections (HAIs)

South Africa has had burden of Healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) and lately most frequent complication of hospitalisation, resulting in increased neonatal morbidity, in-hospital mortality and healthcare costs and litigation ²³³ since the early 90's. ²³⁴ ²³⁵ ²³⁶ Hospitalised neonates and children are at high risk for HAI owing to immunological immaturity, frequent handling by caregivers through direct contact with contaminated hands, surfaces or equipment and increased in-hospital exposure to infectious diseases (notably viral respiratory and gastrointestinal pathogens) ²³⁷ ²³⁸ For South African hospitals some of the attributable factors include ageing hospital infrastructure with overcrowded and short-staffed neonatal units, poor infection prevention and inadequate institutional support for IPC control (IPC) and practices, inappropriate use and poor monitoring and reporting of antimicrobial use antimicrobial agents. Adequate surveillance and response systems are necessary components in preventing the excess morbidity and mortality associated with HAIs. ²³⁹ ²⁴⁰

It is recommended that hospital neonatal wards infrastructure need revamping to adhere to recommended spacing prescripts, adequate neonatal staffing with strict adherence to adequate IPC practices, antimicrobial stewardship programmes, surveillance systems to be put in place.²⁴¹

Service readiness for neonatal care: The introduction of the increased visit schedule for antenatal visits (BANC Plus)²⁴² has led to a reduction in perinatal deaths due to hypertension and stillbirths between 34-38 weeks' gestation. This increases the burden on neonatal services. Cost-effective interventions can reduce neonatal deaths

by 41 - 72% and include antibiotics for preterm premature rupture of membranes, antenatal corticosteroids, clean delivery practices, resuscitation of the newborn, breastfeeding, prevention of hypothermia and kangaroo mother care (KMC)²⁴³ ²⁴⁴. However, there is insufficient emphasis on the availability of skilled personnel, adequate medical equipment and enough beds to care for sick newborns and avoid overcrowding in neonatal wards ²⁴⁵.

3.2.9 Postnatal period challenges

The marked increases in institutional deliveries (95%) provide an opportunity to take advantage of the time before discharge to deliver key aspects of postnatal care²⁵⁰. Up to 1 in 45 of postpartum maternal deaths²⁵¹ occur within one day of delivery, approximately 65% occur within one week, and roughly 80% occur within two weeks due to postpartum hemorrhages, caesarean section related complications, and unmanaged hypertensive disorders of pregnancy.²⁵² While the quality of services provided in the immediate postpartum is key, the timing of the service to be provided is an important factor in maximizing maternal and newborn health.

Whether before discharge or at subsequent follow-up visits, postnatal care should include a clinical assessment, counselling for parenthood, screening for mental health conditions and support for breastfeeding.

Data indicates that postnatal visits to facilities have proven difficult for some mothers resulting in missed opportunities for postnatal care, immunizations, and loss to follow up of HIV exposed infants²⁵³. To improve access, home visitation by community health workers has been promoted as a postnatal care strategy that achieves comparable benefits under conditions with limited resources and has demonstrated potential for reducing maternal and newborn deaths. However, implementation has proven difficult to take to scale in many areas.

3.3 MPN healthcare workforce requirements and challenges

Optimal management of staff and resources are key aspects for effective maternal and newborn care service delivery. According to the South African Health Review (2018), one of the major issues in the human capital arrangements in South Africa is the poor stewardship of human resource planning and inadequate information on the availability of human resources for health (HRH) to address historical inequities²⁵⁴ ²⁵⁵ between urban and rural areas.²⁵⁶ ²⁵⁷

Although there is a Human Resources for Health Strategy 2014,²⁵⁸ it needs a specific key strategic focus on the maternal and neonatal workforce, reflecting mothers and neonates as a vulnerable group. The midwife is the primary, key and most cost-effective caregiver for normal pregnancy and birth²⁵⁹ ²⁶⁰ The scope of the midwife is routine, uncomplicated care. The midwife's core competencies should be aligned with

those stipulated by the International Council of Midwives (ICM).²⁶¹ ²⁶²²⁶³The availability of an emergency transport system and an effective obstetric system in support is needed to reduce mortality and morbidity.

The shortage²⁶⁴ and uneven distribution of appropriately skilled healthcare workers for MPN and obstetric care contribute to MPN mortalities. Doctors, specialists, midwives, advanced midwives, neonatal nurses, and neonatologists are unevenly distributed due to personal preferences for urban vs rural areas and the public vs private health system mix.²⁶⁵ Fully investing in midwives by 2035 would avert roughly two-thirds of maternal, newborn deaths and stillbirths, saving 4.3 million lives per year globally.²⁶⁶.

Lack of staff skills, inexperience and lack of supervision during surgical and anesthetic administration by medical doctors in cesareans sections remains a challenge²⁶⁷. Task shifting takes place in primary healthcare and includes community health workers and clinical associates who have limited maternal and newborn care scope.²⁶⁸. If they work unsupervised, they may put the lives of women and neonates at risk. Therefore, the right skill mix must be matched with the right obstetric complication risk.²⁶⁹

The 2020 change of the curriculum and training for nurses and midwives to a Higher Education Qualification is a compounding factor on the output of midwives.²⁷⁰ This, in addition to the natural depletion of skilled and experienced nurse-midwives from the system, will negatively impact the quality of healthcare for the future.²⁷¹ ²⁷² A one-year post-basic midwifery course should be considered together with other solutions. An urgent compulsory CPD point system is needed for all categories of MPN health care workers.²⁷³

There is a need to ensure that all healthcare workers providing maternal and neonatal care are fully trained and equipped for their task level. Therefore, an effective deployment strategy is needed in all levels of care, particularly ensuring that skilled midwives are placed in MOUs, linked to a general understanding of the midwife's scope of practice in the district and regional hospitals. The scope of practice would need to be considered, as referred to in the scope of practice documents for midwives, including the SANC scope of practice and the International Confederation for Midwives (ICM) competency list. Regard for issues of retention of clinicians is needed, especially given the high attrition and litigation rates that are a threat in the profession.

Besides increasing the numbers of healthcare workers through training, there are other policy suggestions from the South African Health Review;²⁷⁴

- There should be a comprehensive retention strategy that includes finances, supportive management, and a safe, conducive work environment
- There is a need for improvement of skills at all levels of care for all healthcare staff

- Key for maternal and neonatal health delivery are considerations for the mother and baby pair and that the right level of care is applied to the correct maternal or neonatal condition²⁷⁵
- Reconceptualization of student selection and ensuring that deployment seeks to address current health inequities
- The private sector should participate in the training platform for human resources for health in South Africa
- Engagement with regulatory bodies on enriching the scope of work for both nurses-midwives and doctors around MPNH services
- The use of technology to automate mundane and repetitive tasks.²⁷⁶

3.4 Financing MPNH services

Although the MPNH programs are funded from the fiscus, with financial flows from national to the provincial treasury and then allocated to programs for service delivery, it is not ring-fenced. Fundamentally, the pursuit of universal health coverage could reduce vulnerability from out-of-pocket payments for health, with the fund acting as a single purchaser. It is envisaged that such a move would benefit MPNH programs, given that women and children make up most of the users of a healthcare system, but its implementation is still underway. Expenditure line items should be reorganized to reflect the various elements of service delivery for maternal and neonatal health.

The development and strengthening of partnerships with the private sector (public-private partnerships (PPPs), funders, implementing partners, local NPO's and private providers have become an essential strategy to reach the SDG goals in MPN care by 2030 ²⁷⁷ ²⁷⁸.

Collaboration and costing of the implementation of norms and standards for universal, quality MPN care delivery will ensure quality and sustainability.²⁷⁹ ²⁸⁰

At a national level, unconditional grants are given to the NDOH for program planning, including piloting new initiatives. A new dynamic in funding for MPNH programs is the NHI Fund,²⁸¹ which introduces a purchaser-provider split into the South African health system.

3.5 Infrastructure compliance

Hospital infrastructure can enable or obstruct specific interventions: space that provides privacy and accommodates birth companions facilitates respectful maternity care; availability of facilities for Kangaroo Care (KMC) facilitates optimal care for the management of stable, very low birth weight and preterm neonates.²⁸² Evidence indicates that space limitations and resultant overcrowding contribute to the risks of neonatal sepsis outbreaks. Facilities should follow the broad guidance on the design of MPNH services as laid out by the CSIR in the ideal clinic framework²⁸³ and the

Infrastructure Unit Systems Support (IUSS) Guide. Additional resources include the Quality Improvement Toolkit for Neonatal Care and the KZN Guide for Maternity Units and KMC Units.²⁸⁴ Input should be obtained from the NDoH on the infrastructural outlay of MPNH services.

Demand should be created so that women with low-risk pregnancies who are anticipated to have normal deliveries can use safe and accessible dedicated birth centers such as midwife obstetric units (MOUs). MOUs are an effective strategy to reduce pressure on higher levels of care.²⁸⁵.

MOUs should provide 24-hour services to the population of their catchment area. MOUs should comply with norms and standards to provide effective care and reduce overcrowding. Safe staffing levels as per staff/delivery ratios should be available to manage the number of normal deliveries for the unit, with access to transport to the next level of expertise or care for the management of emergencies. Onsite obstetric Midwives Unit (OMBUs) ²⁸⁶ provide models of triage and internal access to specialized care.

3.6 Essential MPNH supplies, including medicines and equipment.

Maternal and newborn health care is hampered by a pervasive lack of essential lifesaving medicines and equipment, causing poor quality of care, loss of lives and litigations. Available equipment is often of poor quality, prone to breakages, or lacking spare parts with no maintenance and repair systems.²⁸⁷

Quality services require the availability of medicine and equipment at the point of care to deliver the task at hand effectively. Ineffective and poorly designed supply chains for purchasing and distributing medicines and essential commodities for MPNH are among the most important barriers to providing quality care. Therefore, provincial and district managers must be responsible for the conceptualization and effectiveness of sustainable supply chains to supply commodities for MPNH efficiently. The ripple effects of shortage of medicines and commodities affect not only patients but also high attrition rates when staff work in environments with suboptimal supplies.

There is a need for innovative and integrated digital mechanisms to streamline supply chain processes and monitor stock levels for effective service delivery. Coordination is needed between the regulatory bodies, such as the SAHPRA and the Essential Drug List (EDL), as to prescription policies, scheduling of drugs and the off-label use of drugs essential in reducing maternal and neonatal mortality.²⁸⁸

Processes for the procurement and management of equipment need to be strengthened to ensure that the norms and standards for essential equipment are adhered to, including emergency obstetric ambulances.²⁸⁹

3.7 Emergency preparedness and response²⁹⁰

3.7.1. Obstetric emergencies and complicated childbirth ²⁹¹

Improving the delivery of emergency obstetric care (EmNOC) remains critical in addressing direct causes of maternal mortality such as Antepartum haemorrhage, fulminating Eclampsia, severe bleeding post-delivery and severe prematurity, severe birth asphyxia in a case of a neonate. This necessitates availability of high level of skill at entry point or point of care and at referral site to provide more specialized care. Obstetric and neonatal emergencies require personnel with well-oiled lifesaving skills, reliable, functional vehicles with EMS competent staff, effective referral pathway/system to higher level or referral facilities and good telemedicine communication to smooth the process. Preparedness of public health facilities to provide EmNOC has indicated numerous limitations which has led to adverse pregnancy outcomes in our South African MNH services.²⁹²

3.7.2. Unexpected events

*Unexpected events such as earthquakes, floods, pandemics, and terrorist attack*s—can cause widespread health problems. Public health emergencies can affect access to medical and social services, increase stress, intensify physical work, and expand caregiving duties. This may affect access to medical services and health outcomes among women and families of childbearing potential, especially pregnant and postpartum women and new-borns. Although these events are rare however there is a need to address the day—to-day challenges of emergency reactions to obstetric emergencies and referral pathway problems reported.²⁹³

Pandemics such as COVID-19 affected access to MPNH services, impacted pregnancy outcomes, and breastfeeding during the postnatal period and early childhood development.²⁹⁴

The Framework and Guidelines for Maternal and Neonatal Care developed during the COVID-19 response serve to guide crisis response of the health system during crisis.

3.8 Regional care, levels of care and referral system/pathways

Due to the increased physical and psychological vulnerability of this group, failure to identify and manage risk factors promptly can negatively impact the wellbeing of the mother and her baby. This necessitates a high level of skill at the point of care and a reliable and effective referral pathway/system.²⁹⁵

The referral system itself is hampered by i) limited staff with inadequate obstetric and neonatal life support skills and scope of practice, ii) unreliable or non-functional vehicles, iii) vehicles that are used for the transport of clients other than obstetric and neonatal emergencies, and iv) referral criteria that are not based on the urgency of the

medical problem (such as the urgent need for caesarian section), but rather on referral routes. Norms and standards for a competent "obstetric and neonatal friendly" EMS service is a priority.²⁹⁶

Referrals and care pathways for maternal and neonatal care are tiered from primary to a central level of care and include primary, community, district, regional and provincial services. It is not an effective system for emergencies and complications related to pregnancy and birth. Primary Health Care (PHC) anchors this delivery, acting as a gateway for care coordination. Expanding access is therefore dependent on addressing key bottlenecks at the primary care level. Telemedicine could assist in smoothing the process.²⁹⁷ ²⁹⁸ ²⁹⁹

4 Respectful Maternity Care

4.1 Respectful Maternity Care³⁰⁰

Reports from patients on their experiences in health facilities point to a deficit in respectful care, trampling on their right to dignity, privacy and confidentiality. 301 302 Women desire a positive childbirth experience that fulfils or exceeds their prior personal and socio-cultural beliefs and expectations. Respectful care has been demonstrated to be a key driver of better MPNH outcomes in several studies. 303 The Patient's rights charter in South Africa 404 embraces principles of respectful care in general, with these rights being central to care delivery, although not specific to maternal and child health care.

The four recommendations of the WHO on "care throughout labor and birth' are 1) respectful maternity care, 2) effective communication, 3) companionship during labor and childbirth, and 4) continuity of care. ³⁰⁵

The provision of respectful maternity care can be linked to improved quality measures. For example, respectful care reduces unnecessary invasive obstetric interventions such as episiotomies, improves the mother's birth experience and is a strategy to avoid unnecessary litigation. 306 307 308

4.2 Vulnerable groups inclusivity³⁰⁹

Migrants and refugees: Anecdotal evidence suggests that undocumented migrants may make up 40% of deliveries at some facilities. These women may not be budgeted for. This calls for an urgent need for multi-sectoral and perhaps intercountry collaborations for care provision for the vulnerable. Humanitarian assertions need to make provision for refugees from a human rights perspective, yet policy guidance is needed to handle the influx of undocumented migrants in health facilities 310 311

Vulnerable and marginalized:³¹² This includes the homeless, those who are geographically isolated, and those in conditions of extreme poverty. Since delays in

seeking care are a contributor to mortality, it is important to identify ways of getting to geographically and otherwise marginalized persons, thus ensuring that they are extracted from their pockets of vulnerability and that no one is left behind.

5 Community Maternal Health Services

5.1 Maternal, Perinatal and Neonatal services at Community level

In South Africa families and communities are an untapped resource for improving maternal and neonatal health. Implications for maternal and infant health care in developing countries are discussed, with a particular focus on barriers to utilization and involvement of communities and families in maternity care. The success of Mom Connect to connect mothers to maternal health services has proven a success story for SA. ³¹³. With the strengthening of the reengineering of primary health care service Outreach services in SA it is widely agreed that communities should take an active part in improving their own health outcomes that CHWs can play a vital role to improve maternal health services through integrated health care to the households and individuals within its catchment area. Community-based interventions may encompass encouraging healthier practices and care seeking among communities and families; recruiting and training local community members to work alongside trained health care professionals; and community member involvement in service provision, including diagnosis, treatment, and referral. Within these broad categories are a range of approaches, including CHWS, traditional birth attendants (TBAs), health campaigns, school-based health promotion, home-based care 314. These services still need expansion through good development of practice guidelines.

5.2 Stakeholder engagement.

A multi-stakeholder framework with intersectoral coordination is needed to enable active citizenry and participation in South Africa. In light of the overt participation of civil society in reproductive health in South Africa, with a bulk of active civil society members being part of the HIV movement, it may be difficult to build robust social accountability frameworks 16. The National Health Act stipulates 17 that there is a need for functional clinical governance structures.

However, there is a deficit in the clinical governance feedback loop for accountability at all levels. Only the Western Cape Government connects leadership with the clinical interface to ensure that the basics of services delivery are linked.³¹⁸ In other provinces, the coordination and implementation of the standards of care need to be strengthened.

6. Maternal, Perinatal and Neonatal Death Response and Surveillance system (MPDRS)

South Africa has useful data sets and has been advancing data collection from vital registers to aggregated data at a national level through StatsSA³¹⁹ as well as the District Information Health System. Multiple surveillance systems exist in and outside of the NDoH, nationally and locally, that do not communicate with one another, with a lack of data ownership by the NDoH. Data is not used effectively for decision-making at a facility level nor to ensure accountability for service delivery outcomes. Furthermore, feedback loops to those who collect the data are often incomplete.

The need for data consistency is an essential element of a functioning health system with elements of flow of data, accuracy, translating it into information, feedback of data and ownership at a collection level. The current M&E sets of indicators for maternal and neonatal health are robust enough,³²⁰ but some key indicators are missing, particularly pertaining to the main causes of maternal morbidity and mortality.³²¹ Although the MPNH program already has a robust M&E system from facility level feeding to national-level data, it may be useful to leverage technology, especially mHealth initiatives,³²² for data collection, both at a community and facility level. Furthermore, some medical devices, such as ultrasounds,³²³ store useful data which could be used for decision making at a provincial level. The use of the SA identification number as a unique identifier will assist in the accuracy of data.

7 Research in maternal health care systems and quality care

South Africa as a LMIC has developed strategies to reduce maternal and new-born mortality and morbidity with mixed success due to financial disparity in the population, urban and rural communities, differences in culture groups and regions or provinces' views and needs, quality service delivery issues between the dual private and public healthcare systems and funding models.

The research findings of the Saving Mothers and Babies from 1998 and 2013 respectively to improve maternal and new-born health outcomes through improved healthcare care mainly focussed on clinical and system challenges and less on the user's needs and experiences and few evidence-based models of care has been tested so far. In view of the intended NHI in South Africa more research is needed on what the required competency of the midwife should be, what model of care will be acceptable for the community, and how the user experience and satisfaction be monitored independently for improvement of the quality of care.³²⁴

¹ World Health Organization Sustainable Development Goal 3: Health. https://www.who.int/topics/sustainable-development-goals/targets/en/

² Maternal Health Indicators: Further Analysis of the 1998 and 2016 South Africa Demographic and

Health Surveys / Statistics South Africa. Pretoria: Statistics South Africa, 2020 Report No. 03-06-03 ISBN 978-0-621-48197-6 http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/Report-03-06-03/Report-03-06-032020.pdf

3 Ibid 2

⁴Ibid 2

- ⁵ Say L, Chou D, Gemmill A, et al. Global Causes of Maternal Death: A WHO Systematic Analysis. Lancet Global Health. 2014;2(6): e323-e333.
- ⁶ Chou D, Daelmans B, Jolivet RR, et al. Ending preventable maternal and new-borns mortality and stillbirths. BMJ [Internet]. BMJ; 2015 Sep 14; h4255. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h4255
- National Department of Health. Saving Mothers 2014 2016. https://www.westerncape.gov.za/assets/departments/health/saving_mothers_2014-16_-_short_report.pdf
- 8 lbid 11
- 9 Ibid 7
- ¹⁰ World Health Organisation. Abortion facts and Figures 2020. https://www.prb.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/2021-safe-engage-abortion-facts-and-figures-media-guide.pdf
- ¹¹ Ibid 5
- ¹² Ringholm L, Damm P, Mathiesen ER. Improving pregnancy outcomes in women with diabetes mellitus: modern management. Nature Reviews Endocrinology [Internet]. Springer Science and Business Media LLC; 2019 Apr 4;15(7):406–16. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0197-3
- ¹³ Damian DJ, Njau B, Lisasi E, et al. Trends in maternal and neonatal mortality in South Africa: a systematic review. Systematic Reviews [Internet]. Springer Science and Business Media LLC; 2019 Mar 27;8(1). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13643-019-0991-yhIV
- ¹⁴ Ibid 8
- 15 Ibid 8
- Saving Mothers 2019: annual report on confidential enquiries into maternal deaths in South Africa. Pretoria: South African National Department of Health; 2019
- ¹⁷ Ibid 7
- ¹⁸ World Health Organisation. Maternal Mortality 2019. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/maternal-mortality
- ¹⁹ World Health Organisation. New-borns improving survival and wellbeing. 2020. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/newborns-reducing-mortality
- ²⁰ Brink, L., Gebhardt GS, Mason D, et al., The association between preterm labour, perinatal mortality and infant death (during the first year) in Bishop Lavis, Cape Town, South Africa. South African Medical Journal, 2019. 109(2): p. 102-106.
- ²¹ Rhoda N, Velaphi S, Gebhardt GS, et al. Reducing neonatal deaths in South Africa: Progress and challenges. South African Medical Journal [Internet]. South African Medical Association NPC; 2018 Mar 2;108(3a):9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/samj.2017.v108i3b.12804
- ²²Bamford LJ, McKerrow NH, et.al. South African Medical Journal 2018;108(3a): s25-s32. DOI: 10.7196/SAMJ.2017.v108i3b.12779.
- ²³ Lawn J, Blencowe H, Waiswa P, et al. Stillbirths: rates, risk factors, and acceleration towards 2030 Lancet. 2016 Feb 6;387(10018):587-603. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00837-5. Epub 2016 Jan 19.
- ²⁴ Saving Mothers and Babies https://bettercare.co.za/learn/saving-mothers-and-babies/text/03.html

- ²⁵World Health Organisation. New-borns improving survival and wellbeing. 2020. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/newborns-reducing-mortality
- ²⁶ National Department of Health, (NDoH), Statistics South Africa (Stats SA), South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) and ICF. (2017). South African Demographic Health Survey 2016. Key Indicators. Pretoria and Rockville Maryland USA: NDoH, Stats SA and SAMRC. https://www.statssa.gov.za
- ²⁷ Labadarios D, Steyn NP, Maunder E, et al. National food consumptions Survey South Africa. 1999. Public Health Nutr. 2005 Aug;8(5):533-43. doi: 10.1079/phn2005816.PMID: 16153334

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/?term=Labadarios+D&cauthor_id=16153334

- ²⁸ Moodley J, Soma-Pillay P, Buchmann E, Pattinson R C. Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy: 2019 National guideline. SAMJ Vol 109, No 9 (2019) http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/12723
- ²⁹ National Department of Health, (NDoH), Statistics South Africa (Stats SA), South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) and ICF. (2017). South African Demographic Health Survey 2016. Key Indicators. Pretoria and Rockville Maryland USA: NDoH, Stats SA and SAMRC. https://www.statssa.gov.za
- Martorell R. Improved Nutrition in the First 1000 Days and Adult Human Capital and Health. Am J Hum Biol. 2017 Mar; 29(2): 10.1002/ajhb.22952.Published online 2017 Jan 24. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.2295274 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5761352/
- ³¹ Cena H, Corvino D, Lops A, et al. Nutrition in pregnancy: three crucial periods for mothers and newborns. [Internet]. Italian Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2018 Jun;30(2):27-37. Available from: https://doi.org/10.14660/2385-0868-87
- ³² Georgieff MK, Ramel SE, and Cusick SE. Nutritional Influences on Brain Development. Acta Paediatr. 2018 Aug; 107(8): 1310–1321.Published online 2018 Mar 22. doi: 10.1111/apa.1428. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6045434/
- ³³ Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. The Lancet [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2013 Aug;382(9890):427–51. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(13)60937-x
- 34 Sayed AR, Bourne R, Pattinson R, et al. Decline in the prevalence of neural tube defects following folic acid fortification and its cost-benefit in South Africa. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol2008 Apr;82(4):211-6. PMID: 18338391 DOI: 10.1002/bdra.20442. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18338391/#:
- ³⁵ Leddy AM, Power, MN, and Schulkin J. The Impact of Maternal Obesity on Maternal and Fetal Health. <u>Rev Obstet Gynecol.</u> 2008 Fall; 1(4): 170–178. PMC2621047. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2621047/#
- ³⁶ Basu JK, Jeketera CM, Basu D. Obesity and its outcomes among pregnant South African women. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics Wiley; Apr 24;110(2):101–4. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2010.02.020
- ³⁷ Vythilingum B, Roos A, and Faure S C, et al. Risk factors for substance use in pregnant women in South Africa. 2012. SAMJ 12 (11). http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/5019/4765
- ³⁸ Napier C, Warriner K, Sibiya MN, et al. Nutritional status and dietary diversity of pregnant women in rural KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. 2019. Health SA Gesondheid. Vol 24. https://hsag.co.za/index.php/hsag/article/view/1114/html
- ³⁹ El Hajj M, & Holst L. Herbal Medicine Use During Pregnancy: A Review of the Literature with a Special Focus on Sub-Saharan Africa. 2020. Front Pharmacol. 2020; 11: 866. Published online 2020 Jun 9. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00866. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7296102/

- ⁴⁰ Budree S, Goddard E, Brittain K, et al. Infant feeding practices in a South African birth cohort-A longitudinal study. Maternal & Child Nutrition [Internet]. Wiley; 2016 Oct 2;13(3): e12371. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mcn.12371
- ⁴¹ West NS, Schwartz SR, Yende N, et al. Infant feeding by South African mothers living with HIV: implications for future training of health care workers and the need for consistent counselling. International Breastfeeding Journal [Internet]. Springer Science and Business Media LLC; 2019 Feb 14;14(1). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13006-019-0205-1
- ⁴² Doherty T, Chopra M, Nkonki L, et al. A Longitudinal Qualitative Study of Infant-Feeding Decision Making and Practices among HIV-Positive Women in South Africa. The Journal of Nutrition [Internet]. Oxford University Press (OUP); 2006 Sep 1;136(9):2421–6. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jn/136.9.2421
- ⁴³ Abu-Saad K, Fraser D. Maternal Nutrition and Birth Outcomes. Epidemiologic Reviews [Internet]. Oxford University Press (OUP); 2010 Mar 17;32(1):5–25. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxq001
- ⁴⁴ Papp SA, Gogoi A, Campbell C. Improving maternal health through social accountability: A case study from Orissa, India. Global Public Health [Internet]. Informa UK Limited; 2013 Apr;8(4):449–64. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2012.748085
- ⁴⁵ National Department of Health. Strategic Plan for Maternal, New-born, Child and Women's Health (MNCWH) and Nutrition in South Africa 2012-2016. https://www.knowledgehub.org.za
- ⁴⁶ London L, Schneider H. Globalisation and health inequalities: Can a human rights paradigm create space for civil society action? Social Science & Medicine [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2012 Jan;74(1):6–13. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.03
- ⁴⁷ Kerber KJ, de Graft-Johnson JR, Bhutta ZA, et al. Continuum of care for maternal, new-born, and child health: from slogan to service delivery. Lancet 2007; 370: 1358–69. https://www.thelancet.com/
- ⁴⁸ Amnesty International. Struggle for maternal health. Barriers to maternal care in South Africa.2014. https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/4000/afr530062014en.pdf
- ⁴⁹ Silal SP, Penn-Kekana L, Harris B, et al. Exploring inequalities in access to and use of maternal health services in South Africa 2012. BMC Health Services Research volume 12, Article number: 120 (2012) https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-12-120
- ⁵⁰ Mothupi MC, Knight L & Tabana H. Improving the validity, relevance and feasibility of the continuum of care framework for maternal health in South Africa: a thematic analysis of experts' perspectives. <u>Health Research Policy and Systems</u> Vol 18, Article 28 (2020). https://health-policy-systems.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12961-020-0537-8
- ⁵¹ Stange KC. The Problem of Fragmentation and the Need for Integrative Solutions. The Annals of Family Medicine [Internet]. Annals of Family Medicine; 2009 Mar 1;7(2):100–3. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1370/afm.971
- 52 Department of Health. Handbook for District Clinical Specialist Teams. 2014. Pretoria. ISBN-978-0-620-60859-6
- ⁵³ Department of Health. National Core Standards for Health Establishment in South Africa. 2011. Pretoria. ISBN 978-1-920031-66-4
- ⁵⁴ Pattison, R.C. Safety versus accessibility in maternal and perinatal care. SAMJ, S. Afr. med. j. vol.105 n.4 Pretoria Apr. 2015 http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0256-95742015000300014
- ⁵⁵ Oboirien K, Harris B, Goudge J & Eyles, J. 2018. Implementation of district-based clinical specialist teams in South Africa: Analysing a new role in a transforming system. BMC Health Services Research volume 18, Article number: 600 (2018)
- https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-018-3377-2

⁵⁶ Ibid 52

- ⁵⁷ Feucht U, Marshall C and Kauchali S, et al. Innovations in the clinical care of mothers and children in South Africa: The contribution of district clinical specialist teams. South African Medical Journal, 2018. 108(3): p. 38-43.
- ⁵⁸ Honikman SS, Fawcus S and Meintjes et al. Abuse in South African maternity settings is a disgrace: Potential solutions to the problem. SAMJ: South African Medical Journal, 2015. 105(4): p. 284-286.
- ⁵⁹ World Health organisation. 2018. Quality, equity, dignity: the network to improve quality of care for maternal, new-born and child health strategic objectives. https://www.everywomaneverychild.org/about/
- ⁶⁰ Koblinsky M, Moyer CA, Calvert C, et al. Quality maternity care for every woman, everywhere: a call to action. The Lancet [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2016 Nov;388(10057):2307–20. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(16)31333-2
- ⁶¹ Kruk ME, Leslie HH, Verguet S, et al. Quality of basic maternal care functions in health facilities of five African countries: an analysis of national health system surveys. The Lancet Global Health [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2016 Nov;4(11): e845–e855. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(16)30180-2
- ⁶² Say L, Souza JP, Pattinson RC. Maternal near miss towards a standard tool for monitoring quality of maternal health care. Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2009 Jun;23(3):287–96. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2009.01.007
- ⁶³ Kennedy HP, Yoshida S, Costello A, et al. Asking different questions: research priorities to improve the quality of care for every woman, every child. The Lancet Global Health [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2016 Nov;4(11): e777-e779. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(16)30183-

64Ibid 7

- National Department of Health. Saving Babies report. 2014-2016. Compiled by the National Perinatal Morbidity and Mortality Committee. https://www.westerncape.gov.za/assets/departments/health/napemmco_triennial_report_2014-2016 saving babies.pdf
- ⁶⁶ Rhoda NR, Velaph S, Kauchali S, et al. Reducing neonatal deaths in South Africa: Progress and challenges. 2018.research SAMJ. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/237588644.pdf
- ⁶⁸ Lince-Deroche N, Harries J, Constant D, Morroni C, Pleaner M, Fetters T, et al. Doing more for less: identifying opportunities to expand public sector access to safe abortion in South Africa through budget impact analysis. Contraception [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2018 Feb;97(2):167–76. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2017.07.165
- ⁶⁹ Schneider, M., Eide, A.H., Amin, M., et al 2013, 'Inclusion of vulnerable groups in health policies: Regional policies on health priorities in Africa', African Journal of Disability 2(1), Art. #40, 9 pa
- ⁷⁰ Miller E, Decker MR, McCauley HL, et al. Pregnancy coercion, intimate partner violence and unintended pregnancy. Contraception [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2010 Apr;81(4):316–22. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2009.12.004 ges. http://dx.doi.org/10.4102/ajod. v2i1.40
- ⁷¹ WHO. Improving the health care of pregnant refugee and migrant women and new-born children. [Internet]. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (Technical guidance on refugee and migrant health). Available from: https://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/improving-the-health-care-of-pregnant-refugee-and-migrant-women-and-newborn-children-2018
- ⁷² Quick J, Jay J, Langer A. Improving Women's Health through Universal Health Coverage. [Internet]. PLoS Med; 2014 Jan 6;11(1): e1001580. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001580

- ⁷³ Silal SP, Penn-Kekana L, Harris B, et al. Exploring inequalities in access to and use of maternal health services in South Africa. BMC Health Services Research [Internet]. Springer Science and Business Media LLC; 2012 May 21;12(1). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-12-120
- ⁷⁴ Joudyian, N., Doshmangir, L., Mahdavi, M. et al. Public-private partnerships in primary health care: a scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res 21, 4 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05979-https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-020-05979-9
- ⁷⁵ Peterson, K., Anderson, J., Bourne, D. et al. Health Care Coordination Theoretical Frameworks: a Systematic Scoping Review to Increase Their Understanding and Use in Practice. J GEN INTERN MED 34, 90–98 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-04966-z.
- ⁷⁶ Lassi ZS, Middleton P, Bhutta ZA, et al. Health care seeking for maternal and new-born illnesses in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review of observational and qualitative studies. F1000Research [Internet]. F1000 Research Ltd; 2019 Feb 19; 8:200. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.17828.1
- ⁷⁷ Atun R, Bennett S and Duran A. When do vertical (stand-alone) programmes have a place in health systems? Policy brief 2008. WHO. https://www.who.int/management/district/services/WhenDoVerticalProgrammesPlaceHealthSystems.p.
- ⁷⁸ WHO. Implementation guidance: protecting, promoting and supporting breastfeeding in facilities providing maternity and new-born services the revised Baby-friendly Hospital Initiative (BFHI). [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization (WHO); 2018. Available from: https://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/infantfeeding/bfhi-implementation-2018.pdf
- ⁷⁹ National Planning Commission. The National Development Plan 2030. Report No.: ISBN: 978-0-621-41180-5. [Internet]. South African Government. 2012 Aug 15. Available from: https://www.gov.za/issues/national-development-plan-2030
- ⁸⁰Turner RE, Honikman S, Flisher AJ. Maternal mental health and the first 1 000. South African Medical Journal 2016;106(12):1164-1167. DOI:10.7196/SAMJ. 2016.v106i12.12129
- ⁸¹. Kinsella MT, and Monk C. Impact of Maternal Stress, Depression & Anxiety on Fetal Neurobehavioral Development.Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2009 Sep; 52(3): 425–440.doi: 10.1097/GRF.0b013e3181b52df1
- ⁸² Lasater ME, Beebe M, Gresh A, Blomberg K, Warren N. Addressing the Unmet Need for Maternal Mental Health Services in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Integrating Mental Health Into Maternal Health Care. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health [Internet]. Wiley; 2017 Nov;62(6):657–60. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jmwh.12679
- ⁸³ WHO, United Nations Children's Fund, World Bank Group. Nurturing care for early childhood development: a framework for helping children survive and thrive to transform health and human potential. [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization (WHO); 2018. Available from:https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/272603/9789241514064-eng.pdf
- 84 Baby Gym. www.Baby Gym.co.za
- ⁸⁵ Moore T and Pytlarz J. Untreated psychiatric disorder in pregnancy: Weighing the risks. Mental Health Clinician (2013) 3 (2): 83–87. https://doi.org/10.9740/mhc.n163635
- ⁸⁶ NICE. 2018. Antenatal and Postnatal Mental Health: The NICE guideline on clinical management and service guidance, updated edition [Online]. The British Psychological Society and The Royal College of Psychiatrists. Available: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192/evidence/full-guideline-pdf-4840896925
- ⁸⁷ Lopez A, Becerra MB and Becerra BJ. Maternal Mental Illness Is Associated with Adverse Neonate Outcomes: An Analysis of Inpatient Data Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019 Nov; 16(21): 4135. Published online 2019 Oct 27. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16214135
- ⁸⁸ Sūdžiūtė, K., Murauskienė, G., Jarienė, K. et al. Pre-existing mental health disorders affect pregnancy and neonatal outcomes: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 20, 419

- (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-03094-5 https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/
- ⁸⁹ National Department of Health. Human genetics policy guidelines for the management and prevention Of genetic disorders, birth defects and disabilities. Report of the subcommittee on genetic. https://www.gov.za/documents/human-genetics-policy-guidelines-management-and-prevention-genetic-disorder-birth-defects laboratory services>
- ⁹⁰ Atkinson B. Teratogens and birth defects. Birth defects information sources. https://obgynkey.com/birth-defects-prenatal-diagnosis-and-teratogens/
- ⁹¹ National Department of Health. The Human Genetic Policy guideline for management and prevention of genetic disorders birth defects and disability summarized the incidence of the most common genetic condition in SA. Annexure: Report of the subcommittee on genetic laboratory services. Undated, https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/humangenetics0.pdf
- 92 Ibid 88
- ⁹³ May PA, Gossage JP, Marais A-S, et al. The epidemiology of fetal alcohol syndrome and partial FAS in a South African community. Drug and Alcohol Dependence [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2007 May;88(2-3):259–71. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2006.11.007
- ⁹⁴ May PA, Hamrick KJ, Corbin KD, et al. Dietary intake, nutrition, and fetal alcohol spectrum disorders in the Western Cape Province of South Africa. Reproductive Toxicology [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2014 Jul; 46:31–9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2014.02.002
- ⁹⁵ Kihlbom U. Ethical issues in preconception genetic carrier screening. Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences [Internet]. Uppsala Medical Society; 2016 Jul 8;121(4):295–8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03009734.2016.1189470
- ⁹⁶ National Department of Health. National guideline. Prevention of blindness in South Africa. 2002. https://www.westerncape.gov.za/text/2003/blindness.pdf
- ⁹⁷ Kift EV, Freeman N, Cook C and Myer L. Retinopathy of prematurity screening criteria and workload implications at Tygerberg Children's Hospital, South Africa: A cross-sectional study. SAMJ: South African Medical Journal On-line version ISSN 2078-5135 http://www.scielo.org.za/
- ⁹⁸ Malherbe H. Birth Defects in South Africa: surveillance, registries and the role of the healthcare practitioners. KRISP, School of Laboratory Medicine & Medical Scienc e Wits UpToS PAED Conference 21 June 2019
- ⁹⁹ World Health Organisation. Congenital anomalies. 2020. WHO | World Health Organization https://www.who.int
- ¹⁰⁰ Rhoda, N., Velaphi S, Gebhardt GS et al., Reducing neonatal deaths in South Africa: Progress and challenges. South African Medical Journal, 2018. 108(3): p. 9-16. http://www.samj.org.za
- ¹⁰¹ Maternal Health Indicators: Further Analysis of the 1998 and 2016 South Africa Demographic and Health Surveys / Statistics South Africa. Pretoria: Statistics South Africa, 2020 Report No. 03-06-03 ISBN 978-0-621-48197-6: www.statssa.gov.za
- ¹⁰² Salani R, Billingsley CC and. Crafton, SM. Cancer and pregnancy: an overview for obstetricians and gynecologists. MD American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology 2014
- Botha MH, Rajaram S, Karunaratne K. Cancer in pregnancy (WILEY.com) Int J Gynecol Obstet 2018; 143 (Suppl. 2): 137–142 accessed 25.05.2021
- ¹⁰⁴ Hepner A, Negrini D, Hase EA, et al. Cancer During Pregnancy: The Oncologist Overview. World J Oncol. 2019 Feb; 10(1): 28–34. Published online 2019 Feb 26. doi: 10.14740/wjon1177. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6396773/
- ¹⁰⁵ Hagger FA and Boushey RP. 2009. Clin Colon Rectal Surg. 2009 Nov; 22(4): 191–197.
- doi: 10.1055/s-0029-1242458 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2796096/

- ¹⁰⁶Cancer Association of South Africa (CANSA). Fact Sheet on Breast Cancer, Pregnancy and Breastfeeding https://cansa.org.za/files/2021/01/Fact-Sheet-on-Breast-Cancer-Pregnancy-and-Breastfeeding-January-2021.pdf
- ¹⁰⁷ Women and Cancer Breast Cancer in South Africa. https://cansa.org.za/womens-health/
- ¹⁰⁸. Ibid 107
- National Department of Health. National Guideline for Cervical Cancer Control and Management. 2019. National Integrated Sexual and Reproductive Health & Rights Policy Ed. 1 https://extranet.who.int
- ¹¹⁰ Phaswana-Mafuya N and Peltzer K. Breast and Cervical Cancer Screening Prevalence and Associated Factors among Women in the South African General Population. 2018. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2018; 19(6): 1465–1470.
- doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2018.19.6.1465 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6103566/
- ¹¹¹ Dramowski A, Cotton MF, Whitelaw A. A framework for preventing healthcare-associated infection in neonates and children in South Africa. South African Medical Journal [Internet]. South African Medical Association NPC; 2017 Feb 27;107(3):192. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/samj.2017.v107i3.12035
- ¹¹² National Department of Health The 'Last Mile' Plan- Elimination of MTCT (Mother to Child Transmissions) in South Africa 2015. http://www.emtct-thelastmile.co.za/ https://www.knowledgehub.org.za/elibrary/last-mile-plan-elimination-mtct-mother-child-transmissions-south-africa
- ¹¹³ Bamford LJ, McKerrow NH, Barron P. et al. Child mortality in South Africa. Fewer deaths, but better data are needed 2018. S Afr Med J 2018;108(3 Suppl 1): S25-S32. DOI:10.7196/SAMJ. 2018.v108i3.12779 South Africa African Journals Onlinehttps://www.ajol.info
- 114. Beseda D, Van Cutsem G, Goemaere E, et al. The case for Option B and Optional B+: Ensuring that South Africa's commitment to eliminating mother-to-child transmission of HIV becomes a reality. 2012. SA Jr for HIV Medicine. https://sajhivmed.org.za/index.php/hivmed/article/view/112/182
- ¹¹⁵ Republic of South Africa. Global Aids monitoring report. 2019 <u>GAM-Report-2019 Final-Report.pdf</u> (sanac.org.za)
- ¹¹⁶ National Department of Health. Guideline for the Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission of Communicable Infections (HIV, Hepatitis, Listeriosis, Malaria, Syphilis and TB) 2019. https://www.nicd.ac.za/
- ¹¹⁷ Wilkinson D, Sach M, & C-C. Epidemiology of syphilis in pregnancy in rural South Africa: opportunities for control. Tropical Medicine & ... [Internet]. 1997; Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1046/j.1365-3156.1997.d01-127.x
- ¹¹⁸ Woldesenbet SA, Lombard C, Manda A, et al (2021). The 2019 National Antenatal Sentinel HIV Survey, South Africa, National Department of Health (unpublished)
- 119 National Department of Health. Guideline for the Prevention of Mother to Child Transmission of Communicable Infections (HIV, Hepatitis, Listeriosis, Malaria, Syphilis and TB) 2019. https://www.nicd.ac.za/
- ¹²⁰ Ibid 113
- ¹²¹ Pillay S and Tooke L J: Symptomatic congenital syphilis in a tertiary neonatal unit in Cape Town, South Africa: High morbidity and mortality in a preventable disease. *South African Medical Journal* 2019;109(9):652-658. DOI:10.7196/SAMJ.2019.v109i9.13817
- ¹²² Hoffmann CJ, Variava E, Rakgokong, et al. High prevalence of pulmonary tuberculosis but low sensitivity of symptom screening among HIV-infected pregnant women in South Africa. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jan 2;8(4): e62211.

- ¹²⁴ Russell NJ, Seale AC, O'Driscoll M, et al for the GBS Maternal Colonization Investigator Group, Maternal Colonization With Group B *Streptococcus* and Serotype Distribution Worldwide: Systematic Review and Meta-analyses, *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, Volume 65, Issue suppl_2, 15 November 2017, Pages S100–S111, https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cix658
- ¹²⁵ Hall J, Hack Adams N, Bartlett L, et al. Maternal disease with group B Streptococcus and serotype distribution worldwide: systematic review and meta-analyses. Clin Infect Dis 2017; 65(Suppl 2): S112–24.
- ¹²⁶ Cutland CL, Schrag SJ, Thigpen MC, et al. Increased risk for group B Streptococcus sepsis in young infants exposed to HIV, Soweto, South Africa, 2004-2008(1). Emerg Infect Dis. 2015 Apr;21(4):638-45. doi: 10.3201/eid2104.141562. PMID: 25812061; PMCID: PMC4378461.
- ¹²⁷ Africa CWJ and Kaambo E (2018) Group B Streptococcus Serotypes in Pregnant Women From the Western Cape Region of South Africa. Front. Public Health 6:356. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00356
- ¹²⁸ Dangor Z, Lala SG, Cutland CL, et al. SA. Burden of invasive group B Streptococcus disease and early neurological sequelae in South African infants. PLoS One. 2015 Apr 7;10(4): e0123014. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123014. PMID: 25849416; PMCID: PMC4388823.
- ¹²⁹ Lawn JE, Bianchi-Jassir F, Russell NJ, et al. Group B Streptococcal Disease Worldwide for Pregnant Women, Stillbirths, and Children: Why, What, and How to Undertake Estimates? Clin Infect Dis. 2017 Nov 6;65(suppl_2): S89-S99. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix653. PMID: 29117323; PMCID: PMC5850012.
- ¹³⁰ Dessu S, Habte A, Melis T, Gebremedhin M. Survival Status and Predictors of Mortality among Newborns Admitted with Neonatal Sepsis at Public Hospitals in Ethiopia. Int J Pediatr. 2020 Sep 19; 2020:8327028. doi: 10.1155/2020/8327028. PMID: 33029155
- ¹³¹ Bianchi-Jassir F, Seale AC, Kohli-Lynch M, et al. Preterm birth associated with group B Streptococcus maternal colonization worldwide: systematic review and meta-analyses. Clin Infect Dis 2017; 65(Suppl 2): S133–42
- ¹³² Seale AC, Blencowe H, Bianchi-Jassir F, et al. Stillbirth with group B streptococcal disease worldwide: systematic review and meta-analyses. Clin Infect Dis 2017; 65(Suppl 2): S125–32.
- ¹³³ Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention of Perinatal Group B Streptococcal Disease: Revised Guidelines from CDC, 2010. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/groupbstrep/lab/resources.html
- ¹³⁴ Krishnaswamy S, Lambach P, Giles ML. Key considerations for successful implementation of maternal immunization programs in low- and middle-income countries. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2019;15(4):942-950. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1564433. Epub 2019 Jan 30. PMID: 30676250; PMCID: PMC6605837.
- ¹³⁵ Kim SY, Russell LB, Park J, et al. Cost-effectiveness of a potential group B streptococcal vaccine program for pregnant women in South Africa. Vaccine. 2014 Apr 7;32(17):1954-63. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.01.062. Epub 2014 Feb 11. PMID: 24530145.
- ¹³⁶National Department of Health. National guidelines for the treatment of Malaria. 2019. https://www.nicd.ac.za/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/National-Guidelines-for-Malaria-Treatment-SEPTEMBER-2019-Update-WITH-FRONT.pdf
- ¹³⁷ Ibid 117
- ¹³⁸ Borgia G, Gentile I. Vertical transmission of hepatitis B virus: challenges and solutions. Int J Women's Health. 2014; Volume 6:605–11. PubMedhttps://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov
- ¹³⁹ United States of America. Recommendations for Use of Antiretroviral Drugs During Pregnancy: Overview.2021. https://clinicalinfo.hiv.gov/en/guidelines/perinatal/overview-2
- ¹⁴⁰ National Department of Health. National Guidelines for the Management of Viral Hepatitis. 2020. https://www.knowledgehub.org.za/elibrary/national-guidelines-management-viral-hepatitis
- ¹⁴¹ Thomas J, Govender, KM. McCarthy, LK, et al. 2020. Listeriosis Outbreak of Listeriosis in South Africa Associated with Processed Meat. N Engl J Med 2020; 382: 632-43.DOI:

- 10.1056/NEJMoa1907462 https://www.nicd.ac.za/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Outbreak-of-Listeriosis-in-South-Africa-Associated-with-Processed-Meat.pdf
- ¹⁴² Janakarim V. Listeriosis in Pregnancy: Diagnosis, Treatment, and Prevention. 2008. Rev Obstet Gynecol. 2008 Fall; 1(4): 179–185. PMC2621056. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2621056/
- ¹⁴³ Dreisbach EN. Zika 5 years later: Still much to learn as 'likely' future outbreak looms. 2021. https://www.healio.com/news/infectious-disease/20210114/zika-5-years-later-still-much-to-learn-as-likely-future-outbreak-looms
- ¹⁴⁴ Goodman, A. In the Aftermath of Disasters: The Impact on Women's Health. Vol.2 No.6:29 (2016) DOI: 10.21767/2471-9803.100037 https://www.researchgate.net/
- ¹⁴⁵ Brunson J. Maternal, New-born, and Child Health After the 2015 Nepal Earthquakes: An Investigation of the Long-term Gendered Impacts of Disasters. Maternal and Child Health Journal [Internet]. Springer Science and Business Media LLC; 2017 Jul 28;21(12):2267–73. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2350-8
- ¹⁴⁶ World Health Organization. Electronic address: sageexecsec@who.int. Tetanus vaccines: WHO position paper, February 2017 Recommendations. Vaccine. 2018 Jun 14;36(25):3573-3575. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.02.034. Epub 2017 Apr 18. PMID: 28427847.
- ¹⁴⁷ Ridpath AD, Scobie HM, Shibeshi ME, et al. Progress towards achieving and maintaining maternal and neonatal tetanus elimination in the African region. Pan Afr Med J. 2017 Jun 22;27(Suppl 3):24. doi: 10.11604/pamj.supp.2017.27.3.11783. PMID: 29296159; PMCID: PMC5745942.
- New study reveals why flu can be devastating for pregnant women (2020, September 21) retrieved 30 May 2021 from https://medicalxpress.com/news/2020-09-reveals-flu-devastating-pregnantwomen.html
- ¹⁴⁹ Pregnancy during COVID-19 lockdown: How the pandemic has affected new mothers (2021, May 19) retrieved 30 May 2021 from https://medicalxpress.com/news/2021-05-pregnancy-covidlockdown-pandemic-affected.htm
- ¹⁵⁰ Phadke VK & Omer SB. Maternal vaccination for the prevention of influenza: current status and hopes for the future, Expert Review of Vaccines, 15:10, 1255-1280, DOI: 10.1080/14760584.2016.1175304
- ¹⁵¹ Dangor Z, Nunes M., Kwatra G., et al. (2017). Vaccination of HIV-infected pregnant women: implications for protection of their young infants. *Tropical diseases, travel medicine and vaccines*, 3, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40794-016-0044-7
- ¹⁵² Brunson, J. Maternal, New-born, and Child Health After the 2015 Nepal Earthquakes: An Investigation of the Long-term **Gendered Impacts of Disasters**. *Matern Child Health J* **21**, 2267–2273 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2350-8
- ¹⁵³ Ahmed T, Rahman AE, Amole TG, et al. The effect of COVID-19 on maternal new-born and child health (MNCH) services in Bangladesh, Nigeria and South Africa: call for a contextualised pandemic response in LMICs. International Journal for Equity in Health (2021) 20:77 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01414-5
- National Department of Health. Framework and Guidelines for Maternal and Neonatal Care during a Crisis. 2020. Version 2.2. https://www.knowledgehub.org.za/system/files/elibdownloads/2020-08/MNH%20COVID-19%20guidelines%20-%20Version%202.2%20-%202020-04-22%20Framework.pdf
- ¹⁵⁵ Chmielowski B, Barratt E, Townsend R, et al: Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and perinatal outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis .<u>The Lancet Global Health, Online First</u>
- ¹⁵⁶ DHIS March 2021. Data of Ante Natal attendance first visits before 20 weeks 2016- 2020.
- ¹⁵⁷ Jinga, N., Mongwenyana, C., Moolla, A. et al. Reasons for late presentation for antenatal care, healthcare providers' perspective. BMC Health Serv Res 19, 1016 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4855-

¹⁵⁸ Pattinson RC, Hlongwane TMAG, Vannevel V. Challenges to improve antenatal and intrapartum care in South Africa. S Afr Med J. 2019 Dec 5;109(11b):15-19. doi: 10.7196/SAMJ. 2019.v109i11b.14248. PMID: 32252862.

159 Ibid 7

- ¹⁶⁰ Matsubara S, Matsubara D. Re: Respectful care during childbirth in health facilities globally: a qualitative evidence synthesis. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology [Internet]. Wiley; 2018 Mar 14;125(8):1038–1038. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15163 l
- ¹⁶¹ Oosthuizen S, Bergh A-M, Pattinson RC. Systems thinking: A turning point for improving respectful obstetric care in South African health districts. South African Medical Journal [Internet]. South African Medical Association NPC; 2018 Oct 26;108(11):910. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/samj.2018.v108i11.13312mou
- ¹⁶² Reis V, Deller B, Carr C, et al. Respectful Maternity Care: Country Experiences; Survey Report. [Internet]. Washington, DC: United States Agency for International Development Maternal and Child Health Integrated Program; 2012 Nov. Available from: https://toolkits.knowledgesuccess.org/sites/default/files/rmc survey report 0 0.pdf
- ¹⁶³ Pallitto, C., et al., Testing a counselling intervention in antenatal care for women experiencing partner violence: a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial in Johannesburg, South Africa. BMC health services research, 2016. 16(1): p. 630
- ¹⁶⁴ Heise L, Elsberg M, Gottmoeller M. A global overview of gender based violence. Division of Gynecology Oncology, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Massachusetts International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics 78 Suppl 1 (2002) S5-S14
- ¹⁶⁵ WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience
- ¹⁶⁶ Hlongwane TM, Bozkurt B, Barreix MC et al. Implementing antenatal care recommendations, South Africa Bulletin of the World Health Organization (who.int)
- ¹⁶⁷ The 2017 annual Saving Mothers report. Pretoria: South African National Department of Health; 2017. Available from: https://www.westerncape.gov.za/ general-publication/saving-mothers-2017-annual-report [cited 2020 Nov 8].
- ¹⁶⁸ Lavin T, Pattinson R C, Kelty, et al. The impact of implementing the 2016 WHO Recommendations on Antenatal Care for a Positive Pregnancy Experience on perinatal deaths: an interrupted timeseries analysis in Mpumalanga province, South Africa BMJ Glob Health. 2020 Dec;5(12): e002965. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002965
- ¹⁶⁹ Matlala, M.S. & Lumadi, T.G., 2019, 'Perceptions of midwives on shortage and retention of staff at a public hospital in Tshwane District', Curationis 42(1), a1952. https://doi.org/10.4102/ curationis.v42i1.1952
- ¹⁷⁰ Moodley J, Soma-Pillay P, Buchmann E, Pattinson RC. Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy: 2019 national guideline. S Afr Med J. 2019 Sep 13;109(9) Suppl 1:12723. PMID: 31635598
- ¹⁷¹ Makhanya, V., J. Moodley, and L. Govender, *Eclampsia: still a major problem in rural KwaZulu-Natal Province, South Africa.* South African Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 2016. **22**(1): p. 13-17
- ¹⁷² Moodley, J., S. Fawcus, and R. Pattinson, *Improvements in maternal mortality in South Africa.* South African Medical Journal, 2018. **108**(3): p. 4-8.
- ¹⁷³ Damian, D.J., et al., *Trends in maternal and neonatal mortality in South Africa: a systematic review.* Systematic reviews, 2019. **8**(1): p. 76.
- ¹⁷⁴ Guidelines for hypertensionhttp://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/12723
- ¹⁷⁵ DHIS March 2021. Data element i delivery in facility (Skilled attendance).
- ¹⁷⁶World Health Organization. Recommendations: Intrapartum Care for a Positive Childbirth Experience. Geneva: WHO, 2018.

- ¹⁷⁷ World Health Organization. Recommendations: Intrapartum Care for a Positive Childbirth Experience. Geneva: WHO, 2018
- ¹⁷⁸ Zhang J, Landy HJ, Branch DW, et al. Contemporary patterns of spontaneous labor with normal neonatal outcomes. Obstet Gynecol 2010;116(6):1281-1287. https://doi.org/10.097/aog.0b013e3181fdef6e
- ¹⁷⁹ Zhang J, Troendle J, Mikolajczyk R, Sundaram R, Beaver J, Fraser W. The natural history of the normal first stage of labor. Obstet Gynecol 2010;115(4):705-710. http://doi.org/10.1097/aog.0b013e3181d55925.
- ¹⁸⁰ Oladapo OT, Diaz V, Bonet M, et al. Cervical dilatation patterns of 'low-risk' women with spontaneous labour and normal perinatal outcomes: A systematic review. BJOG 2018;125(8):944-954. http://doi. org/10.1111/471-0528.14930
- ¹⁸¹ Pattinson RC, Hlongwane TMAG, Gebhardt GS. 'Placental insufficiency' is under appreciated as a cause of perinatal mortality. Perinatal Problem Identification Program (PPIP), 2015 2017. National Perinatal Morbidity and Mortality Committee (NaPeMMCo). December 2018. Unpublished.
- ¹⁸²Pattinson RC, Rhoda N, for the PPIP group. Saving Babies 2012 2013. Ninth Report on Perinatal Care in South Africa. Pretoria: Tshepesa Press, 2014
- ¹⁸³ Lavin T, Preen DB, Pattinson R. Timing and cause of perinatal mortality for small-for-gestational age babies in South Africa: Critical periods and challenges with detection. Maternal Health Neonatal Perinatol 2016; 2:11. https://doi.ord/10.1186/s40748-016-0039-4
- ¹⁸⁴ DHIS March 2021. Rates of caesarean section in public hospitals
- ¹⁸⁵ Ibid 7
- ¹⁸⁶Abuya T, Ndwiga C, Ritter J, et al. The effect of a multi-component intervention on disrespect and abuse during childbirth in Kenya. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2015; 15:224. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884- 015-0645-6
- ¹⁸⁷ Chadwick RJ, Cooper D, Harries J. Narratives of distress about birth in south African public maternity settings: a qualitative study. Midwifery. 2014;30(7):862–8
- ¹⁸⁸ Oosthuizen S J et al Does matter where you come from: mothers' experiences of childbirth in midwife obstetric units, Tshwane, South Africa. Reproductive Health (2017) 14:151 DOI 10.1186/s12978-017-0411-5
- ¹⁸⁹ Oosthuizen SJ. Respectful treatment of women in midwife obstetric units: an interventional study to improve clinical care in Tshwane District, South Africa. Pretoria: University of Pretoria, 2018. https://www.up.ac.za/centre-for-maternal-fetal-newborn-and-child-healthcare/article/2744384/clevermaternity-care-research-centre-for-maternal-fetal-newborn-child-
- healthcare/article/2744384/clevermaternity-care-research-centre-for-maternal-fetal-newborn-child-health-care-strategies (accessed 30 April 2019)
- ¹⁹⁰ Factors that influence provision of intrapartum and postnatal care by skilled birth attendants in lowand middle-income countries: A qualitative evidence synthesis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; Issue 11. Art. No.: CD011558. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011558.pub2
- ¹⁹¹ Quality care during childbirth at a midwife obstetric unit in Cape Town, Western Cape: Women and Midwives' perception: Sedeeka Martin. https://etd.uwc.ac.za/bitstream/handle/11394/6892/3408-4414-1-SM.pdf
- ¹⁹² Ibid 178
- ¹⁹³ Oosthuizen SJ, Bergh A-M, Grimbeek J, Pattinson RC. Midwife-led obstetric units working "CLEVER": Improving perinatal outcome indicators in a South African health district. South African Medical Journal [Internet]. South African Medical Association NPC; 2019 Jan 31;109(2):95. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/sami.2019.v109i2.13429
- ¹⁹⁴ Oosthuizen WL. An analysis of healthcare malpractice liability reform: aligning proposals to include quality of care and patient safety. Master of Laws LLM) 2014. University of Pretoria. https://repository.up.ac.za
- ¹⁹⁵ Long Q, Allanson ER, Pontre J, et al. (OMBUs) for care around the time of childbirth: a systematic review BMJ Glob Health 2016;1: e000096. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2016-00009

- ¹⁹⁶ Mortensen B, Lukasse M, Diep LM, *et al* Can a midwife-led continuity model improve maternal services in a low-resource setting? A non-randomised cluster intervention study in Palestine *BMJ Open* 2018;**8:** e019568. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019568
- ¹⁹⁷ Lawn JE, Blencowe H, Pattinson R, et al. Stillbirths: Where? When? Why? How to make the data count? The Lancet [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2011 Apr;377(9775):1448–63. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(10)62187-3.
- ¹⁹⁸ Ibid 147
- ¹⁹⁹ World Health Organization. Stillbirths. 2016. https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/epidemiology/stillbirth/en/
- ²⁰⁰ Madhi SA, Briner C, Maswime S, et al. Causes of stillbirths among women from South Africa: a prospective, observational study. April 2019The Lancet Global Health 7(4): e503-e512 DOI: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30541-2 License BY-NC-ND 4.0 https://www.researchgate.net/
- ²⁰¹ Lavin T, Pattinson R. Does antenatal care timing influence stillbirth risk in the third trimester? A secondary analysis of perinatal death audit data in South Africa. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology [Internet]. Wiley; 2017 Jun 26;125(2):140–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.14645
- ²⁰² World Health Organization. Stillbirths. 2016. https://www.who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/epidemiology/stillbirth/en/
- ²⁰³ National Department of Health. Saving Babies report. 2014-2016. Compiled by the National Perinatal Morbidity and Mortality Committee. https://www.westerncape.gov.za/assets/departments/health/napemmco_triennial_report_2014-

nttps://www.westerncape.gov.za/assets/departments/nealtn/napemmco_triennial_report_2014-2016_saving_babies.pdf

- ²⁰⁴ Lavin T, Preen DB, Pattinson R. Timing and cause of perinatal mortality for small-for-gestational age babies in South Africa: Critical periods and challenges with detection. Maternal Health Neonatal Perinatol 2016; 2:11. https://doi.ord/10.1186/s40748-016-0039-4
- ²⁰⁵ Borzie, K., Jasper, N., Southall, D.P. et al. Monitoring intrapartum fetal heart rates by mothers in labour in two public hospitals: an initiative to improve maternal and neonatal healthcare in Liberia. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 20, 362 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-02921-z
- ²⁰⁶ Ibid 7
- ²⁰⁷ Rhoda N, Velaphi S, Gebhardt GS, et al. Reducing neonatal deaths in South Africa: Progress and challenges. South African Medical Journal [Internet]. South African Medical Association NPC; 2018 Mar 2;108(3a):9. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/sami.2017.v108i3b.12804
- ²⁰⁸ Walani SR. Global burden of preterm birth. Int J Gyne&Obs. June 2020 https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.13195 https://obgyn.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ijgo.13195
- ²⁰⁹ Pattinson RC, ed. Saving Babies 2008-2009: Seventh Report on Perinatal Care in South Africa. http://www.ppip.co.za/downloads/Saving%20Babies%202008-9.pdf (accessed 1 June 2021)
- ²¹⁰ National Department of Health. Saving Babies report. 2014-2016. Compiled by the National Perinatal Morbidity and Mortality Committee.
- https://www.westerncape.gov.za/assets/departments/health/napemmco_triennial_report_2014-2016_saving_babies.pd
- ²¹¹ Dessu S, Habte A, Melis T, Gebremedhin M. Survival Status and Predictors of Mortality among new-born's Admitted with Neonatal Sepsis at Public Hospitals in Ethiopia. Int J Pediatr. 2020 Sep 19; 2020:8327028. doi: 10.1155/2020/8327028. PMID: 33029155
- ²¹² Walani SR. Global burden of preterm birth. Int J Gyne&Obs. June 2020 https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.13195 https://doi.org/10.1002/ijgo.13195
- ²¹³ Velaphi, S; Rhoda, N. Reducing neonatal deaths in South Africa are we there yet, and what can be done? South African Journal of Child Health, [S.I.], v. 6, n. 3, p. 67-71, Aug. 2012. ISSN 1999-

- 7671. Available at: http://www.sajch.org.za/index.php/SAJCH/article/view/493/327>. Date accessed: 01 Jun. 2021. doi:10.7196/SAJCH.493.
- ²¹⁴ Ballot DE, Potterton J, Chirwa T, et al. Developmental outcome of very low birth weight infants in a developing country. BMC Pediatr. 2012 Feb 1; 12:11. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-12-11. PMID: 22296705; PMCID: PMC3293066toria: Tshepesa Press, 2011:28
- ²¹⁵ Pattinson R, ed. Saving Babies 2008-2009: Seventh Report on Perinatal Care in South Africa.
- ²¹⁶ Bruckmann EK, Velaphi S. Intrapartum asphyxia and hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy in a public hospital: Incidence and predictors of poor outcome. S Afr Med J. 2015 Apr;105(4):298-303. doi: 10.7196/samj.9140. PMID: 26294875.
- ²¹⁷ Borzie, K., Jasper, N., Southall, D.P. et al. Monitoring intrapartum fetal heart rates by mothers in labour in two public hospitals: an initiative to improve maternal and neonatal healthcare in Liberia. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 20, 362 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-02921-z
- ²¹⁸ Bayih, W.A., Yitbarek, G.Y., Aynalem, Y.A. *et al.* Prevalence and associated factors of birth asphyxia among live births at Debre Tabor General Hospital, North Central Ethiopia. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth* **20**, 653 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-03348-2
- ²¹⁹ Lavin T, Preen DB, Pattinson R. Timing and cause of perinatal mortality for small-for-gestational age babies in South Africa: Critical periods and challenges with detection. Maternal Health Neonatal Perinatol 2016; 2:11. https://doi.ord/10.1186/s40748-016-0039-4
- ²²⁰ Factors that influence provision of intrapartum and postnatal care by skilled birth attendants in lowand middle-income countries: A qualitative evidence synthesis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; Issue 11. Art. No.: CD011558. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD011558.pub2
- ²²¹ Padayachee N; Ballot, D E. Outcomes of neonates with perinatal asphyxia at a tertiary academic hospital in Johannesburg, South Africa. **South African Journal of Child Health**, [S.I.], v. 7, n. 3, p. 89-94, Aug. 2013. ISSN 1999-7671. Available at: http://www.sajch.org.za/index.php/SAJCH/article/view/574/446>. Date accessed: 01 Jun. 2021. doi:10.7196/SAJCH.574.
- ²²² Bruckmann EK, Velaphi S. Intrapartum asphyxia and hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy in a public hospital: Incidence and predictors of poor outcome. S Afr Med J. 2015 Apr;105(4):298-303. doi: 10.7196/samj.9140. PMID: 26294875.
- ²²³Azzopardi DV, Strohm B, Edwards AD, et al. Moderate hypothermia to treat perinatal asphyxial encephalopathy. N Engl J Med 2009;361(14):1349-1358. [http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0900854]

- ²²⁶ Jacobs S, Hunt R, Tarnow-Mordi W, et al. Cooling for new-borns with hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007;(4): CD003311. [http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003311.pub2]
- ²³³ Dramowski A, Whitelaw A, Cotton MF. Burden, spectrum, and impact of healthcare-associated infection at a South African children's hospital. J Hosp Infect. 2016 Dec;94(4):364-372. doi: 10.1016/j.jhin.2016.08.022. Epub 2016 Sep 1. PMID: 27717603; PMCID: PMC7132424.
- ²³⁴ Cotton MF, Berkowitz FE, Berkowitz Z, et al. Nosocomial infections in black South African children. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1989 Oct;8(10):676-83. doi: 10.1097/00006454-198910000-00003. PMID: 2812912.

- ²³⁵ Olivier C, Kunneke H, O'Connell N, Von Delft E, Wates M, Dramowski A. Healthcare-associated infections in paediatric and neonatal wards: A point prevalence survey at four South African hospitals. S Afr Med J. 2018 Apr 25;108(5):418-422. doi: 10.7196/SAMJ. 2018.v108i5.12862. PMID: 29843857.
- ²³⁶ Hlophe E, Thembelihle S; McKerrow, NH. Hospital-acquired Klebsiella pneumonia infections in a paediatric intensive care unit. **South African Journal of Child Health**, [S.I.], v. 8, n. 4, p. 125-128, Nov. 2014. ISSN 1999-7671. Available at:
- http://www.sajch.org.za/index.php/SAJCH/article/view/747/588>. Date accessed: 01 Jun. 2021. doi:10.7196/SAJCH.747.
- ²³⁷ Spicer KB, Green J, Dhada B. Hospital-acquired infections in paediatric medical wards at a tertiary hospital in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Paediatr Int Child Health. 2018 Feb;38(1):53-59. doi: 10.1080/20469047.2017.1299897. Epub 2017 Mar 16. PMID: 28300495.
- ²³⁸ Meatherall BL, Gregson D, Ross T, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and outcomes of Klebsiella pneumonia bacteraemia. Am J Med. 2009 Sep;122(9):866-73. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2009.03.034. PMID: 19699383.
- ²³⁹ Olivier C, Kunneke H, O'Connell N, Von Delft E, Wates M, Dramowski A. Healthcare-associated infections in paediatric and neonatal wards: A point prevalence survey at four South African hospitals. S Afr Med J. 2018 Apr 25;108(5):418-422. doi: 10.7196/SAMJ. 2018.v108i5.12862. PMID: 29843857
- ²⁴⁰ Essel, V et al. A multispectral investigation of a neonatal unit outbreak of Klebsiella pneumonia bacteraemia at a regional hospital in Gauteng Province, South Africa. South African Medical Journal, [S.I.], v. 110, n. 8, p. 783-790, Jul. 2020. ISSN 2078-5135. Available at: http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/view/13028>. Date accessed: 01 Jun. 2021. doi:10.7196/SAMJ. 2020.v110i8.14471.
- ²⁴¹ Dramowski D Cotton MF, Whitelaw A. Surveillance of healthcare-associated infection in hospitalised South African children: Which method performs best? S Afr Med J 2017;107(1):56-63. DOI:10.7196/SAMJ. 2017.v107i1.11431
- ²⁴² Hofmeyr GJ and Mentrop L. Time for 'basic antenatal care plus' in South Africa? DOI: 10.7196/SAMJ. 2015.v105i11.10186LicenseCC BY-NC 4.0 2015. https://www.researchgate.net/
- ²⁴³ Feucht U; van Rooyen E, Skhosana and; Bergh AM. Taking kangaroo mother care forward in South Africa: The role of district clinical specialist teams. SAMJ, S. Afr. med. j. vol.106 n.1 Pretoria Jan. 2016http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/SAMJ.2016.V106l1.10149 http://www.scielo.org.za/
- ²⁴⁴ Conde-Agudelo A, Díaz-Rossello JL. Kangaroo mother care to reduce morbidity and mortality in low birthweight infants. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. Wiley; 2016 Aug 23; Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd002771.pub4
- ²⁴⁵ Smola A, Lawson K. Kangaroo Mother Care and Traditional Care. [on the Internet]. Williams Honors College, Honors Research Projects; 2019. Available from: https://ideaexchange.uakron.edu/honors research projects/932
- ²⁵⁰ Li XF, Fortney JA, Kotelchuck M, Glover LH. The postpartum period: the key to maternal mortality. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics [Internet]. Wiley; 1996 Jul;54(1):1–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0020-7292(96)02667-7
- ²⁵¹ World Health Organisation. Maternal mortality. 2019. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/maternal-mortality
- ²⁵² Finger WR. Better postpartum care saves lives. PMID: 12292683. Netw Res Triangle Park N C. Summer 1997;17(4):18-21. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12292683/
- ²⁵³ Modi S, Broyles LN, Montandon M, et al. Beyond Early Infant Diagnosis: Changing the Approach to HIV-Exposed Infant. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. Author manuscript; available in PMC 2019 Mar 6https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6401209/
- ²⁵⁴ Wabiri N, Chersich M, Shisana et al. Growing inequities in maternal health in South Africa: a comparison of serial national household surveys. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth [Internet]. Springer

Science and Business Media LLC; 2016 Sep 1;16(1). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12884-016-1048-z

- ²⁵⁵ Wabiri N, Chersich M, Zuma, et al. Equity in Maternal Health in South Africa: Analysis of Health Service Access and Health Status in a National Household Survey. Thorne C, editor. PLoS ONE [Internet]. Public Library of Science (PLoS); 2013 Sep 6;8(9): e73864. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073864
- ²⁵⁶ Day-Stirk F, Fauveau V. The state of the world's midwifery: Making the invisible visible. [Internet]. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics; 2012 Oct;119: S39-S41. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2012.04.003
- ²⁵⁷. Rispel LC, Blaauw D, Ditlopo P and White, J. Human resources for health and universal health coverage: progress, complexities and contestations. 2018. SAHR.13-19. www.hst.org.za
- ²⁵⁸ National Health Department. Human Resource Development Strategy for South Africa (HRD-SA) 2010 2030. https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/doehrds-sa22022010.pdf.
- ²⁵⁹ International Confederation of Midwives. Scope of Practice of the Midwife. https://www.internationalmidwives.org/our-work/policy-and-practice/icm-definitions.html
- ²⁶⁰ Department of Health. Regulations regarding scope of practice for nurses and midwives. Nursing Act, 2005 (act no. 33 of 2005).
- https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/202005/43305gon521_0.pdf
- ²⁶¹ United Nation Population Fund. Midwifery. https://www.unfpa.org/midwifery. Government Gazette 43305. 2020.
- ²⁶² Vinayak S, Sande J, Nisenbaum H, Nolsøe CP. Training Midwives to Perform Basic Obstetric Point-of-Care Ultrasound in Rural Areas Using a Tablet Platform and Mobile Phone Transmission Technology—A WFUMB COE Project. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2017 Oct;43(10):2125–32. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2017.05.024
- ²⁶³ International Confederation of Midwives. Essential Competencies of Midwifery Practice.2018. https://www.internationalmidwives.org/assets/files/general-files/2018/10/icm-competencies---english-document_final_oct-2018.pdf
- ²⁶⁴ World Health Organisation. New report sounds the alarm on global shortage of 900 000 midwives. Joint News Release United Nations 2021. https://www.who.int/news/item/05-05-2021-new-report-sounds-the-alarm-on-global-shortage-of-900-000-midwives
- ²⁶⁵ Young M. Private vs. Public Healthcare in South Africa. 2016.Westen Michigan University. Honors Thesis 6-24-2016
- https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3752&context=honors_theses ²⁶⁶ lbid 173
- ²⁶⁷ Ibid 7
- ²⁶⁸ Deller B, Tripathi V, Stender S, et al. Task shifting in maternal and new-born health care: Key components from policy to implementation International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics Volume 130, Supplement 2, June 2015, Pages S25-S31 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0020729215001344
- ²⁶⁹ Das JK, Kumar R, Salam RH, et al.2014. Evidence from facility level inputs to improve quality of care for maternal and new-born health: interventions and findings. Reproductive Health volume 11, Article number: S4 (2014) https://reproductive-health-journal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1742-4755-11-S2-S4
- ²⁷⁰ Midwives Society in South Africa.2019. Strengthening midwifery Education and practice. Society of Midwives of South Africa 16 Annual Congress 20 23 August 2019. https://midwivessociety.co.za/
- ²⁷¹ South African Nursing Council. Advanced diploma in midwifery qualifications framework.
 2019.https://www.sanc.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Qual-Framework-Advanced-Diploma-in-Midwifery.pdf

- Mulaudzi FM, Daniels FM, Direko GK, et al. The current status of the education and training of nurse educators in south Africa. 2012. https://fundisa.journals.ac.za/pub/article/view/26
- ²⁷³ South African Nursing Council. CPD. Continuing Professional Development for Nurses and Midwives/Accouchers in South Africa. https://www.sanc.co.za/cpd/
- ²⁷⁴ Ibid 166
- ²⁷⁵ Laliberté C, Dunn S, Pound C, et al. A Randomized Controlled Trial of Innovative Postpartum Care Model for Mother-Baby Dyads. Krukowski R, editor. PLOS ONE [Internet]. Public Library of Science (PLoS); 2016 Feb 12;11(2): e0148520. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0148520
- ²⁷⁶ Lee SH, Nurmatov UB, Nwaru, et al. Effectiveness of mHealth interventions for maternal, new-born and child health in low– and middle–income countries: Systematic review and meta–analysis. Journal of Global Health [Internet]. International Global Health Society; 2015 Nov 8;6(1). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7189/jogh.06.010401
- ²⁷⁷ UNDP. The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). [Internet]. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP); 2015. Available from: https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/sustainable-development-goals.html
- ²⁷⁸ Ibid 2
- ²⁷⁹ Kruk ME, Galea S, Prescott M, Freedman LP. Health care financing and utilization of maternal health services in developing countries. Health Policy and Planning [Internet]. Oxford University Press (OUP); 2007 Jul 27;22(5):303–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czm027
- ²⁸⁰ Romaniuk P, Poznańska A, Brukało K, Holecki T. Health System Outcomes in BRICS Countries and Their Association with the Economic Context. Frontiers in Public Health [Internet]. Frontiers Media SA; 2020 Mar 31;8. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00080
- National Health Insurance Bill 2019 (Republic of South Africa). Available from: https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201908/national-health-insurance-bill-b-11-2019.pdf I
- ²⁸² Ibid 154
- ²⁸³ Hunter JR, Chandran TM, Asmall S, et al. The Ideal Clinic in South Africa: progress and challenges in implementation. In: Padarath A, Barron P, editors. South African Health Review 2017. [Internet]. Durban: Health Systems Trust; 2017. Available from: https://www.hst.org.za/publications/Pages/HST-South-African-Health-Review-2017.aspx
- ²⁸⁴ National Department of Health. 2013 The essential new-born care quality improvement toolkit. Linccare.co.za
- ²⁸⁵ Ibid 182
- ²⁸⁶ Long Q, Alanson ER, Pontre J, et al. Onsite midwife-led birth units (OMBUs) for care around the time of childbirth: a systematic review BMJ Glob Health 2016;1: e000096. doi:10.1136/bmjgh-2016-000096
- ²⁸⁷ Mukinda FK, Van Belle S, George A and Schneider H. The crowded space of local accountability for maternal, new-born and child health: a case study of the South African health system. Health Policy and Planning, Volume 35, Issue 3, April 2020, Pages 279–290, https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czz162 https://academic.oup.com/
- ²⁸⁸ Department of Health. Standard Treatment Guidelines and Essential Medicines Lis for South Africa PHC level, 2018.
- https://extranet.who.int/ncdccs/Data/ZAF_D1aia_STG%20and%20EML%20PHC%202018.pdf
- ²⁸⁹ Pattinson RC, Makin JD, Pillay Y, et al. Basic and comprehensive emergency obstetric and neonatal care in 12 South African health districts. South African Medical Journal [Internet]. South African Medical Association NPC; 2015 Mar 1;105(4):256. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.7196/samj.9181

- ²⁹⁰ Thwala SBP, Blaauw D, Ssengooba F. Measuring the preparedness of health facilities to deliver emergency obstetric care in a South African district. Ciccozzi M, editor. PLOS ONE [Internet]. Public Library of Science (PLoS); 2018 Mar 29;13(3): e0194576. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194576
- ²⁹¹ Pattinson RC. Safety versus accessibility in maternal and perinatal care. S Afr Med J. 2015 Apr;105(4):261-5. doi: 10.7196/samj.9182. PMID: 26294862. ²⁹² Ibid 242
- ²⁹³. Ehiri, J., Alaofè, H., Asaolu, I. et al. Emergency transportation interventions for reducing adverse pregnancy outcomes in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review protocol. Syst Rev 7, 65 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-018-0729-2https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s13643-018-0729-2#citeas
- ²⁹⁴ Hsia RY, Mbembati NA, Macfarlane S, Kruk ME. Access to emergency and surgical care in sub-Saharan Africa: the infrastructure gap. Health Policy and Planning [Internet]. Oxford University Press (OUP); 2011 Mar 26;27(3):234–44. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr023
- ²⁹⁵ Hunter B, Segrott J. Renegotiating inter-professional boundaries in maternity care: implementing a clinical pathway for normal labour. Sociology of Health & Illness [Internet]. Wiley; 2014 Mar 19;36(5):719–37. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.12096ideal clinic
- ²⁹⁶ Twala SBP, Blaauw D and Ssengooba F. Measuring the preparedness of health facilities to deliver emergency obstetric care in a South African District PLoS ONE. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0194576
- ²⁹⁷ Abrahams JF, Molefi M. Implementing Telemedicine in South Africa: A South African Experience .2006. International Hospital Federation. https://www.hrhresourcecenter.org/node/1265.html
- ²⁹⁸ World Health Organisation. How telemedicine is transforming access to healthcare. Sanlam blog. 2020.

https://www.sanlam.co.za/blog/articles/Pages/telemedicine-transforming-healthcare.aspx

- ²⁹⁹ Ahmed MA, Gagnon MP, Hamelin-Brabant L, et al. A mixed methods systematic review of success factors of mHealth and telehealth for maternal health in Sub-Saharan Africa. MHealth. 2017; 3: 22. online 2017 Jun 6. doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.05.04 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5505928/
- ³⁰⁰ Shakibazadeh E, Namadian M, Bohren M, et al. Respectful care during childbirth in health facilities globally: a qualitative evidence synthesis. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology [Internet]. Wiley; 2017 Dec 8;125(8):932–42. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.15015
- 301 Nevhutalu HK. Patients" rights in South Africa's public health system: Moral-critical perspectives 2016. PhD degree in Philosophy at the University of Stellenbosch https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/188225483.pdf
- ³⁰² Malatji L. and Madiba S. Disrespect and Abuse Experienced by Women during Childbirth in Midwife-Led Obstetric Units in Tshwane District, South Africa: A Qualitative Study 2020. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. ijerph-17-03667.pdf. https://www.mdpi.com
- ³⁰³ Faye A, Niane M, Ba I. Home birth in women who have given birth at least once in a health facility: contributory factors in a developing country. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2011 Nov;90(11):1239-43. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0412.2011.01163. x. Epub 2011 Aug 29. PMID: 21542811. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21542811/
- ³⁰⁴ National Department of Health. The Patients' Rights Charter English. PATIENTS%20RIGHTS%20CHARTER%20-%20Eng.pdf
- ³⁰⁵ Krausé, S.S., Minnie, C.S. & Coetzee, S.K. The characteristics of compassionate care during childbirth according to midwives: a qualitative descriptive inquiry. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 20, 304 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-03001-y

- ³⁰⁶ Oosthuizen WL. An analysis of healthcare malpractice liability reform: aligning proposals to include quality of care and patient safety. Master of Laws LLM) 2014. University of Pretoria. https://repository.up.ac.za
- ³⁰⁷ Pepper, MS and Slabbert, MN. Is South Africa on the verge of a medical malpractice litigation storm? South African Journal of Bioethics and Law, 2011. 4(1): p. 29-35. https://www.ajol.info
- ³⁰⁸Odendaal HJ, Howarth GE, and Pattison RC. Obstetric litigation –time to reflect? 2011. Editorial. Obstetrics & Gynecology Forum. https://repository.up.ac.za/
- ³⁰⁹ Schneider M, Eide AH, Amin M, et al. Inclusion of vulnerable groups in health policies: Regional policies on health priorities in Africa. African Journal of Disability [Internet]. AOSIS; 2013 Jan 22;2(1). Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.4102/ajod.v2i1.40
- ³¹⁰ Improving the health care of pregnant refugee and migrant women and new-born children. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2018 (Technical guidance on refugee and migrant health)
- ³¹¹ Makawanda T, Vearay J. Giving Birth in a Foreign Land: Exploring the Maternal Healthcare Experiences of Zimbabwean Migrant Women Living in Johannesburg, South Africa. Urban Forum (2017) 28:75–90DOI 10.1007/s12132-017-9304-5
- 312 Ibid 207
- ³¹³ National department of Health, South Africa, new-project-connects-expectant-moms-government-health-services https://www.westerncape.gov.za/general-publication
- ³¹⁴ Lassi ZS, Kumar R, Bhutta ZA. Community-Based Care to Improve Maternal, New-born, and Child Health. In: Black RE, Laxminarayan R, Temmerman M, et al. Reproductive, Maternal, New-born, and Child Health: Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition (Volume 2). Washington (DC): The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank; 2016 Apr 5. Chapter 14. PMID: 27227219.
- ³¹⁵ Cyril S, Smith BJ, Possamai-Inesedy A, et al. Exploring the role of community engagement in improving the health of disadvantaged populations: a systematic review. Glob Health Action 2015, 8: 29842. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/gha.v8.29842
- ³¹⁶ Ten Hoope-Bender P, Martin HA, Nove A, et al. Using advocacy and data to strengthen political accountability in maternal and new-born health in Africa. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics [Internet]. Wiley; 2016 Oct 15;135(3):358–64. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2016.10.003
- ³¹⁷ National Department of Health. National Health No. 61 of 2003. Government Gazette Vol. 469 n 23 July 2004 No. 26595. https://www.gov.za/sites/default/files/gcis_document/201409/a61-03.pdf
- ³¹⁸ Doherty JE. Strengthening clinical leadership in hospitals: a review of the international and South African literature 2013. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.1273.0725. Affiliation: The Municipal Services Project
- (PDF) Strengthening clinical leadership in hospitals: a review ...https://www.researchgate.net
- ³¹⁹ Department Statistic South Africa. Maternal health care in SA shows signs of improvement. March 2020. http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=13102
- ³²⁰ Day C, Gray A, Ndlovu N. Health and Health Indicators 2018. In: Rispel LC, Padarath A, editors. South African Health Review 2018. [Internet]. Durban: Health Systems Trust; 2018. Available from: https://www.hst.org.za/publications/Pages/SAHR2018.aspx
- ³²¹ Bomela, N.J. Maternal mortality by socio-demographic characteristics and cause of death in South Africa: 2007–2015. BMC Public Health 20, 157 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8179-x https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-020-8179-x#citeas
- ³²² Mehl GL, Tamrat T, Bhardwaj S, et al. Digital health vision: could Mom Connect provide a pragmatic starting point for achieving universal health coverage in South Africa and elsewhere? BMJ

Global Health [Internet]. BMJ; 2018 Apr;3(Suppl 2): e000626. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000626

³²³ Swanson JO, Nathan RO, Swanson DL, et al. Use of ultrasound and mHealth to improve perinatal outcomes in low and middle income countries. Seminars in Perinatology [Internet]. Elsevier BV; 2019 Aug;43(5):267–72. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2019.03.016

³²⁴ Lazzarini, M., Semenzato, C., Kaur, J. et al. Women's suggestions on how to improve the quality of maternal and new-born hospital care: a qualitative study in Italy using the WHO standards as framework for the analysis. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 20, 200 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-020-02893-0.

https://bmcpregnancychildbirth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12884-020-02893-0#citeas